THE LIFE SIGNIFICANCE OF UNDERGRADUATE OUTDOOR ACADEMIC PROGRAMS: ALUMNI PERSPECTIVES

A thesis presented to the faculty of the Graduate School of Western Carolina University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Experiential and Outdoor Education.

By

Abigail Fuesler

Director: Dr. Andrew J. Bobilya Professor and Program Director of Experiential and Outdoor Education Human Services Department

Committee Members: Dr. Brad Daniel, Western Carolina University Dr. Will Hobbs

March 2024

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am endlessly grateful for the support and enthusiasm of my committee members: Andrew, Brad, and Will. When I reflect on my first few weeks of grad school, I see the hours that all of you committed to checking in with and challenging me even when this thesis was just a purpose statement. You hadn't even signed the committee paperwork yet! Thank you.

There are countless other faculty who invested time in this study, including Callie, Paul, Jenny, Jill, Ryan, and Dottie. Again, many of you have been in my corner since well before this study was conceptualized and I'm grateful I had the opportunity to work with so many of my mentors on this project.

Grad school would not (I repeat, would not!) have been possible without the wonderful people that comprise Cohort 3. It has been so special to be a part of this group.

Finally, thank you to my family. Jen, Robb, Riah, and Andy, for the proofreads and encouragement over these two years. And let's not forget, we should all offer Jason a round of applause for listening to me talk ad nauseam about undergraduate education and e-bikes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v
ABSTRACT	
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Why are OAPs Being Cut?	
Exploring the Need to Justify OAPs as Significant	2
Articulating the Value of a Degree	3
Employer and faculty perspectives on professional impact of OAPs	3
Professional value as perceived by alumni	4
The Gap in the Literature	4
Theoretical framework	
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
Declining Enrollment Rates in Higher Education	6
Career Readiness Initiatives in Higher Education	
Questioning the Value of Undergraduate Fields	8
Census of Outdoor Academic Programs	9
Challenges facing OAPs	
Longstanding OAPs	. 12
Brevard College.	. 13
Montreat College.	. 13
Warren Wilson College	. 14
Perspectives on outdoor academic programs	. 15
Faculty and employer perspectives	. 16
Alumni perspectives	. 17
Purpose Statement and Research Questions	. 18
Significant Life Experience theoretical framework.	
Reflection in SLE	. 19
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	. 21
Population Selection and Sampling Strategy	. 21
Participant recruitment strategy	. 23
Sample size.	. 24
Ethical Considerations	. 24
Institutional Review Board approval	. 25
Researcher subjectivity and reflexivity	. 25
Methods	
Precedent for data collection methods	. 25
Data Collection	. 26
Timeline and procedures for data collection	. 28
Data Analysis Procedures for Convergent Mixed Methods	. 29
Quantitative data analysis	. 29
Qualitative data analysis	
Comparing the quantitative and qualitative data	

CHAPTER FOUR AND FIVE: JOREL JOURNAL MANUSCRIPT	32
REFERENCES	
Appendix A: Program Coordinator Communications Guide	75
Appendix B: Informed Consent	
Appendix C: Institutional Review Board Determination	
Appendix D: Letter of Support – Brevard College	
Appendix E: Letter of Support – Montreat College	
Appendix F: Letter of Support – Warren Wilson College	
Appendix G: OAP SLE Survey	87

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Quick Facts about Brevard, Warren Wilson, and Montreat Colleges	. 40
Table 2: Timeline of OAP Communications with Alumni Database	. 42
Table 3: Participants by Year Graduated	. 43
Table 4: Important Takeaways Themes	. 46
Table 5: Made a Difference Themes	. 48
Table 6: Importance of OAP Components	. 50
Table 7: Evolution of Opinion of OAP Themes	. 52

ABSTRACT

THE LIFE SIGNIFICANCE OF UNDERGRADUATE OUTDOOR ACADEMIC PROGRAMS: ALUMNI PERSPECTIVES Abigail Gwendolyn Fuesler, M.S. Candidate

Western Carolina University (March 2024)

Director: Dr. Andrew J. Bobilya

Undergraduate outdoor academic programs have existed in the United States of America since the 1970s. These programs necessitate financial support, copious time from students and faculty, access to outdoor spaces, and specialized training for faculty, and so despite a strong academic tradition, these programs are challenging to justify to college administrators. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. To address the gap in the literature, this study utilized a significant life experience theoretical framework and engaged alumni of three longstanding undergraduate outdoor academic programs via an Internet survey. The results indicate that respondents found their undergraduate outdoor academic program to be extremely impactful on their career whether their current work is in the outdoor industry or another field.

Keywords: higher education, outdoor academic program, Significant Life Experience

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Outdoor academic programs in higher education are necessary to provide training to future outdoor industry employees who work in the \$1.1 trillion outdoor recreation economy in the United States of America (Outdoor Recreation Roundtable, 2023). However, even as the industry is booming, outdoor academic program budgets are being reduced and entire programs are getting cut across higher education (Turner et al., 2022). There is an urgent need to ascertain and assert the value of these degrees to college and university administrators (Seaman et al., 2017). The alumni perspective is critical to increase our understanding of the long-term impacts of studying in and graduating from outdoor academic programs, specifically to understand the ways in which skills and knowledge transfer to careers.

Possessing a variety of names ("Parks and Recreation Management," "Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education," or "Outdoor Program Management" to name a few), outdoor academic programs can be located in a variety of colleges (i.e., Health, Education, or Business) across the United States of America (Jostad et al., 2023). For this thesis, I am using the term "outdoor academic program" or "OAP" to refer to any undergraduate degree-granting program that has an outdoor education or outdoor leadership component (Turner et al., 2022). OAPs that emphasize adventure have existed since the 1970s (Guthrie et al., 2012), but in recent years more programs are being eliminated by college and university administrations. Indeed, few people know of OAPs or job opportunities that might be afforded to OAP alumni (Seaman et al., 2017).

Why are OAPs Being Cut?

A census of OAPs completed in 2021 found there were 128 higher education OAPs in operation in the United States (Bell et al., 2024; Turner et al., 2022). However, that number is

already dwindling. As of October 2023, fifteen OAPs have been eliminated (Bell et al., 2024). OAPs consume a vast amount of time and financial resources compared to other programs found at universities (Potter et al., 2012) and unlike other degrees, OAPs require more face-to-face instruction, smaller class sizes, greater access to outdoor spaces, and more consequential situations (Turner et al., 2022). It is increasingly challenging to justify the resources these programs require, especially to those unfamiliar with the outdoor field particularly because we lack research which supports the value of graduating from an OAP. Administrators who are unfamiliar with the outcomes of graduating with an OAP are often the ones making the decision to close programs, and to better inform their decision to close a program, first-hand accounts of the value of an OAP are needed.

Exploring the Need to Justify OAPs as Significant

A recent, practical call for the justification of OAPs emerged from The Academy of Leisure Sciences listserv. The listserv received an email from a faculty member at Eastern Washington University (EWU) stating their program was at risk of being cut (Jostad, 2023). EWU's program was on the chopping block because a school administrator had found on the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics' webpage that the highest degree needed to work in the outdoor industry is a high school degree (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022). This left EWU's administrator wondering: why offer a college degree if it is unnecessary to work in that degree's field? Maningas & Simpson (2003) found that while a high school degree may be all that is necessary, 55% of hiring managers preferred to hire employees with college-level schooling. While this does not come as a shock to anyone who currently works in the outdoor industry, the challenge is that the school administrators who are making decisions about which programs to cut may not have personal knowledge of the outdoor field.

To help inform the decision that EWU's administration is making, this faculty member was reaching out, asking if anyone had data that would help them advocate the value of an OAP to their administration (Jostad, 2023). With programs closing or downsizing annually (e.g., University of Georgia, Shenandoah University, Southeast Missouri State University) and Eastern Washington University's OAP faculty fearing it may be next, research drawing connections from graduating from an OAP to a robust career is needed urgently (Turner et al., 2022).

Articulating the Value of a Degree

Higher education OAPs need information to continue to secure institutional support and to explain the value of their degree to prospective students and their families. Prior research indicates the professional value of a degree from an OAP as employers and faculty understand it (Maningas & Simpson, 2003; Taff, 2016). However, there is a notable gap in the literature expressing the potential value of OAPs on the careers of their alumni, as told by the alumni themselves. From my review of the literature, the last study examining alumni perspectives on their OAP experiences was completed in 2005 in the United Kingdom. Prince (2005) found many alumni were working in a field they perceived to be indirectly or not related at all to their undergraduate studies, and many experienced high levels of job satisfaction despite earning low salaries. Despite compelling evidence from Prince (2005), to my knowledge no similar literature with information on OAPs from the perspective of graduates has been published in the United States.

Employer and Faculty Perspectives on Professional Impact of OAPs

Eastern Washington University might consider justifying the value of their program by presenting the perspectives of employers or faculty. Seaman et al. (2017) address the question of undergraduate OAP faculty members' and employers' perceived value of a degree from an

outdoor academic program. They conducted a quantitative study of 59 programs at bachelor's degree-granting institutions and 134 companies that would potentially hire graduates from those programs. Companies selected the skills most sought when hiring, such as leadership and technical skills, and when the research team compared the skills companies sought with the skills that academic institutions felt were important with which to equip their students, the traits selected by both entities were in alignment. This led researchers to confirm that there is value in attaining a bachelor's degree from an OAP. Seaman et al.'s (2017) research supports Maningas & Simpson's (2003) similar study, even though more than a decade had passed between the studies. The consistency between the 2003 and 2017 studies suggests that despite industry changes, the needs of employers have remained stable.

Professional Value as Perceived by Alumni

The professional value as perceived by employers and faculty is as shared by Seaman et al. (2017) is persuasive data, yet it may not be enough to continue to justify OAPs. Administrators may not find it compelling to continue to fund these expensive programs without evidence demonstrating whether the skills gained in OAPs are beneficial to alumni's careers, from the perspective of alumni themselves. Prince (2005) found that there are benefits to graduating from an OAP, with alumni believing their degree taught them important and generalizable skills like problem solving, critical thinking, oral communication, decisionmaking, teamwork, and self-motivation.

The Gap in the Literature

The research on alumni perspectives on OAPs as it pertains to their current careers is limited, especially in the United States. This is a notable gap in the literature. Therefore, to answer this call and to help understand how graduates are using the skills gained in the OAP

programs after graduation, the purpose of this study is to explore the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate OAP and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers.

Theoretical Framework

This research utilized a modified Significant Life Experience (SLE) theoretical framework (Chawla, 1998; Palmer, 1993; Tanner; 1980). In its inception the SLE theoretical framework was used to study the impact of environmental experiences on environmental careers or pro-environmental behaviors. Later, Daniel (2003) modified this method to be used beyond specifically environmental behaviors, and since then, other studies outside of specifically environmental research have utilized it in various contexts (Altan & Lane, 2018; Ramírez & Allison, 2023; Wigglesworth & Heintzman, 2020). SLE is well suited to comprehending how experiences impact individuals' lives, asking the question, 'what experiences did individuals have that created lasting impact on their lives?' This lasting impact could refer to beliefs, preferences, understandings, and worldviews that are held by an individual today as a result of an experience. SLE is an appropriate theoretical framework where the intent is to learn what experiences have life-altering potential and accomplishes this intent by examining memories.

In the following chapter, I will provide a review of the literature, exploring the state of higher education within the United States, including high impact practices and the state of OAPs in higher education. I will also provide an overview of the modified significant life experience theoretical framework in greater detail. After the literature review, chapter three will contribute an explanation of the methods used in this study.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

To understand the impact outdoor academic programs, it is critical to begin by understanding the unique position of OAPs within higher education. As enrollment rates at colleges decline and career readiness is emphasized above all else, college programs (and especially more "niche" college programs, like OAPs) must demonstrate their value and the market they serve.

Declining Enrollment Rates in Higher Education

During and after the Covid-19 pandemic, college enrollment has seen a decline (National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2023). Despite an increase in enrollment in spring of 2023, undergraduate institutions have not bounced back to their pre-pandemic enrollment numbers (Knox, 2023; National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2023). Colleges are bracing for low enrollment numbers over next several years due to declining birthrates in the United States, rising tuition costs and students' hesitation to take on debt to enroll in college, and increasing doubts regarding the overall value of obtaining a college degree (Gardner, 2023; Knox, 2023; Zook, 2023). As colleges navigate this trend of low enrollment, they are carefully considering how they might recruit students.

There are many things' colleges can do to appeal to students, including partnering and innovating with other universities (Marcy, 2023) or entering the 'Amenities Arms Race' to be the campus with the best "things" – the most food options on campus, sparkling lab equipment, comfortable student lounges, climbing walls, and lazy rivers (McKlure, 2019). However, this literature review will focus on the career readiness initiatives that undergraduate institutions are developing, since 'career' is central to the research questions that are the focus of this study.

Career Readiness Initiatives in Higher Education

In a study on higher education student trends over the past 50 years, Eagan et. al. (2016) reported that 86% of students enroll in college to get a better job. Indeed, colleges have picked up on this and many have responded by developing programs to assist students in preparing for and pursuing chosen careers. Considering that many potential students are increasingly questioning the value of a college degree given its high price tag, it seems wise of colleges to connect the dots between an undergraduate education and a vibrant career (Gardner, 2023). If schools are prudent, they might integrate "High Impact Practices" or HIPs into the design of these career readiness initiatives to assist in the creation of successful programs. HIPs are elements of an undergraduate institution that have been demonstrated to be extremely effective in helping college students develop professionally, e.g., developing ePortfolios, career readiness courses, and internships (American Association of Colleges and Universities, n.d., Marcy, 2023).

A Gallup-Purdue (2014) survey unveiled what they dubbed to be "The Big Six" college experiences that have been shown to indicate well-being later in life. The Big Six are one type of HIP that schools could target:

- 1. My professors at [Institution] cared about me as a person.
- 2. I had at least one professor at [Institution] who made me excited about learning.
- 3. While attending [Institution], I had a mentor who encouraged me to pursue my goals and dreams.
- 4. While attending [Institution], I had a job or internship that allowed me to apply what I learned in the classroom.
- 5. While attending [Institution] I worked on a project that took a semester or more to complete.

6. I was extremely active in extracurricular activities and organizations while attending [Institution].

All of the Big Six criteria emphasize skills and relationships that last beyond college. Further, the last four criteria focus on experiences that may aid students in finding a career. Prioritizing the Big Six could create institutional cultures of prioritizing experiences and transferable skills over the title of a major. This could be beneficial as the value of specific majors is increasingly being called into question.

Questioning the Value of Undergraduate Fields

The value of certain degrees over others is a seemingly perpetual topic in higher education. Students may be choosing a degree they expect will have a high "return on investment," in consideration of the substantial debt many incur to attend college. As shared by Gallup (2017) from 1980 to 2015, prices for goods and services rose by about 2.5 times, while the price for secondary education rose by 11 times. One of the largest purchases most will make in their lifetime, many want to make sure their return on investment is dependable; STEM-based and business majors attract many students with the understanding that students will be able to quickly secure high-income earning jobs when they graduate (Gallup, 2017). In fact, the higher the income earned by graduates, the more likely the graduate is to be satisfied with their degree choice (Gallup, 2017). Therefore, STEM-program graduates are least likely to state they would make different undergraduate education decisions if they were given the opportunity (Gallup, 2017). Given this, students see a STEM major as a reliable choice, and college administrator reasoning follows that emphasizing STEM degrees will attract more students.

Gallup (2017) found that 40% of students with a bachelor's degree would select a different major for their college degree if they were to go back and do it all over again. Although

the study didn't cover the reason so many graduates would be interested in choosing a different degree in college, this research suggests that it is important to teach highly generalizable and transferable skills in undergraduate coursework to best equip students regardless of the career path they go down. In response to this, another goal of many career readiness initiatives is to teach students skills that are likely useful to graduates regardless of their future field, like teamwork, leadership, and communication.

OAPs are no exception to the trends listed above. Many OAPs market that they teach transferable skills, and their alumni will be able to land a job in their field of interest within a year of graduation. Further, by the inherently experiential nature and small class sizes necessary to teach skills-based outdoor academic curriculum, many OAPs are well-positioned to meet the criteria of the Big Six outlined by Gallup-Purdue (2014).

Census of Outdoor Academic Programs

Many schools in the United States offer undergraduate degrees related to outdoor education, parks and recreation management, adventure education, and outdoor leadership; and despite numerous variations upon those names, much of the content remains in alignment across programs (Martin et al., 2017; Sugerman, 1999; Taff et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2022). For the purposes of this thesis, the term "outdoor academic program" or "OAP" encompasses all of these programs to remain in alignment with Turner et al.'s (2022) description.

Pursuing an undergraduate degree in an OAP can be a clear path for students seeking to obtain strong interpersonal leadership skills, wilderness medical training, and a college education (Sugerman, 1999). OAP students often identified that a transformative experience they had prior to embarking on college influenced their desire to pursue a career in outdoor leadership, and as such have a clear vision of their hopes for their future careers, contributing to the intrinsic

motivation found in the students studying in programs (Stott et al., 2014). Programs like these can currently be found at 128 institutions in the United States (Turner et al., 2022), and despite the aforementioned name variations, most OAPs have the similar core curricular components such as courses in leadership, technical skills, teaching methods, administration, and emergency skills. (Guthrie et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2017; Sugerman, 1999). The U.S. Department of Education considers outdoor education undergraduate academic programs (or, OAPs) to be:

A program that prepares individuals to work as an educator, instructor, or facilitator in parks, recreational facilities, camps and other outdoor settings. Includes instruction in leadership skills, wilderness survival skills, first aid, group processes, counseling techniques, environmental studies, and instruction in recreational activities such as rock climbing, ropes courses, backpacking, kayaking and canoeing. (U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.)

Challenges Facing OAPs

Bell and colleagues (2017) outlined threats and strengths to these undergraduate degreegranting OAPs. The study found that faculty of such programs perceive the vitality of a program to be helped or hindered by the amount of institutional support the OAP received. This raises the question: Do OAPs lose funding because the programs themselves have not proven their value to an institution's administration, or does the loss of funding create a self-fulfilling prophecy preventing the programs from thriving, or both? Faculty and staff perceive their OAPs to thrive due to department heads working to publicize and market the program to the university at large in fact, 100% of study respondents said this was crucial to the success of their programs (Potter et al., 2012). However, in the same study, many faculty and staff attributed part of the success of a program to having an outside faculty administrator, like a dean, in strong support of the outdoor academic program, and having the appropriate financial support to support field courses was necessary. To gain administrative and financial support, it is necessary that college administrators understand the skills alumni are gaining and using in their careers after graduating from OAPs.

There are unique curricular challenges associated with OAPs in higher education that may cause students to resist pursuing the degree. Certain OAPs require immersive, semesterlong, cohort-based courses with a significant trip planning and conduction component (Bell, 2017; Taff et al., 2016). Over the course of a semester like this, a cohort participates in several backcountry trips, and they might earn certifications like a Wilderness First Responder and Leave No Trace Level 1 Instructor (Bell, 2017; Taff et al., 2016). A dedicated semester provides students time to hone their skills before putting them into practice in the higher-stakes scenarios found with employment. The immersion semester model common in many OAPs has faced challenges because of its eight (or more) hours-a-day, five days (or more) a week for a semester, cohort-based model when students who have multiple priorities (e.g., family, being a studentathlete, or working a job) typically cede other responsibilities to give the semester its due diligence (Stott et al., 2014).

Given the possible contention with the immersion semester model, some programs forgo this as a curricular option or choose to emphasize other courses. However, even programs without an intensive semester-based experience often require field-based skills classes for students to learn things like navigation, campcraft, rock climbing, and paddle sports. Courses such as these typically necessitate time away from campus, often requiring transportation to and from campus. Compared to an immersion semester, field-based skills courses are minimal in their disruption to student and faculty schedules and strain on financial resources. However,

these courses still interrupt the mechanisms of college schedules, students' jobs, and athletics engagements, and to an outsider these field courses might not seem rigorous enough to justify meeting their needs. Therefore, a program requiring this amount of time in class must justify the hours involved by being certain of the quality of the degree.

Despite the issues associated with an immersion semester approach to OAPs, there are many benefits that may make it worth the associated hurdles. Big Six component five ("While attending [Institution] I worked on a project that took a semester or more to complete.") lends credibility to the demands on an immersion semester model (Gallup-Purdue, 2014). The immersion semester often engages in an "nine to five" structure which could serve as preparation for a job post-graduation and could contribute to feelings of bringing one's most professional self into the classroom. As in an internship, students must develop time management skills and adjust their schedules accordingly to account for their all-encompassing course load (Ross et al., 2011). Scholz et al. (2004) found that internships were helpful in promoting professionalism, agency, and general skills in students and an immersive semester might serve to increase adeptness in those areas as well. In addition to qualifying as a HIP, an immersion semester model assists in the development of generalizable skills needed for any career.

Longstanding OAPs

"Adventure leadership degree" programs were initially developed in the 1970s (Guthrie et al., 2012). Between the years 1971 and 1990, the first 23 colleges and universities created OAPs, with Mankato State University and Prescott College being the first two colleges to offer these degrees, both founded in 1971 (Canberg & Daniels, 2004; Guthrie et al., 2012). Later, Brevard College, Montreat College, and Warren Wilson College (three private, liberal arts universities in western North Carolina) founded their OAPs which have each been granting

degrees for over 25 years. Withstanding occasional periods of stagnation or decline, all three of these programs remain to this day despite the aforementioned challenges to OAPs, and the persistence of small colleges eliminating their OAPs (Bell et al., 2024).

Brevard College. The Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education (WLEE) program at Brevard College was founded in 1996. The program has developed to include many technical and leadership skills courses that the students must pass to graduate with the degree. The 2023-2024 Brevard College Course Catalog describes the WLEE program:

The Wilderness Leadership and Experiential Education program delivers an innovative, intensive, and experiential curriculum. The mission of the program is to promote the development of strong leaders and educators capable of effectively managing a range of outdoor experiences for a wide range of audiences in various and dynamic environments. The program is grounded in the theory and principles of leadership and experiential education and is rich with opportunity for application (p. 116).

Montreat College. The Outdoor Recreation Studies (ORS) major (formerly a B.S. in Outdoor Recreation and later a B.S. in Outdoor Education) at Montreat College was founded in 1974. The 2022-2023 Montreat College Academic Catalog asserts:

The ORS curriculum is designed to give students the skills, knowledge, and training necessary to both facilitate personal growth and interpret the natural environment for their future students/participants/clients. Management of outdoor recreation programs and experiences is an area of focus in the ORS major core, providing students in each concentration with important administration skills applicable in any number of career choices... Montreat College's Outdoor Recreation Studies program emphasizes developing students to become outdoor leaders who are competent in using outdoor

environments for education, business/program administration, and ministry. Through numerous courses and field experiences, students are prepared to design, implement, and administer outdoor programs that manage risks that are challenging, and enjoyable. Students are exposed to a variety of environmental education and outdoor leadership theories through the program's core courses, as well as, obtaining a variety of practical experience. In their concentration students will further explore an area of the ORS field, gathering a deeper understanding of theoretical, philosophical and practical factors in the chosen concentration. The ORS major and concentrations emphasize preparation for professional roles in the field. (p. 162).

Warren Wilson College. Founded three years before Brevard College's WLEE program, Warren Wilson began an Outdoor Leadership program in 1993. According to the 2022-2023 College Catalog:

The mission of the Outdoor Leadership Studies Program is to prepare graduates who have the academic background, skills, and experience necessary to analyze, plan, implement, administer, and supervise outdoor adventure education programs. The goals of the Outdoor Leadership program are the following:

1) To foster an understanding of the basic concepts of outdoor leadership through an integrated liberal arts and professional training curriculum.

2) To prepare leaders who can analyze, plan, implement, administer, and supervise outdoor adventure education programs.

3) To develop leaders who understand and exercise responsible leadership to promote sustainable communities.

The outdoor leadership curriculum focuses on education, facilitation, and experiential learning methodologies. It is not solely a technical skills training program. All outdoor leadership courses combine theory with practice and many incorporate service learning. The course of study includes technical skills (such as backpacking, canoeing, kayaking, and rock climbing), interpersonal skills (such as group process, counseling, and leadership), and a broad understanding of administrative issues. (p. 128).

Brevard College, Montreat College, and Warren Wilson College all have time-tested OAPs, with mission statements dedicated to the development of competent outdoor leaders. These three schools have been selected for research because of their long history as undergraduate degree-granting OAPs, and because they possess a variety of components inherent to a typical OAP (Taff et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2022). Up until 2023, each of these OAPs required that its alumni complete coursework in introductory technical skills courses, an academic internship, and a certification in wilderness medicine (Brevard College, 2023; Montreat College, 2022; Warren Wilson College, 2022). Given their successful records, these small colleges in the Southeast are exemplary programs to investigate and can create a model for future studies or for larger institutions to base their internal research. Next, to understand the worth of OAPs, it is necessary to review the research that shares the perspectives held by the faculty, employers, and students connected to OAPs.

Perspectives on Outdoor Academic Programs

The following section includes research on college faculty and employers' perceptions of skills important to working in the outdoor field and will conclude with sharing the state of the literature on alumni perspectives on their career readiness in relation to their OAP experiences.

The outdoor field and the professionals within it have been slow to decide on the best way to evaluate training programs designed to produce outdoor leaders; this has led to "the erratic development of outdoor leadership preparation programs" (Pelchat & Karp, 2012, p. 10). Research has been conducted to evaluate the core competencies needed by outdoor leaders (Priest & Gass, 1997; Raiola & Sugerman, 1999) and if undergraduate OAPs achieved training in those core competencies (Garvey & Gass, 1999; Mitchell, 1998; Sugerman 1999). More information on these competencies came to light in the early 2000s but these scholars do not address whether OAPs are successfully training their graduates to meet the standards as they were laid out (Berman & Davis-Berman, 2009). Echoing Medina (2001), Turner et al. (2022) and Hobbs et al. (2018) call for standardization of language (job titles, undergraduate OAP degree names) as well as of qualifications and standards for outdoor leaders to increase the professionalism and recognition of jobs in the outdoor field.

Faculty and employer perspectives. There has been one key study completed recently that addresses the question of undergraduate OAP faculty members' and employers' perceived value of holding a degree from an OAP. Seaman et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative study of 59 programs at bachelor's degree-granting institutions and 134 companies that would potentially hire graduates from those programs. When the respondents from the 134 companies were asked to select what skills were most sought when hiring, the majority selected leadership skills (87%), certifications and experience (85%), and an academic degree in a related field (43%). The study narrowed in on the leadership skills most desired, with managing risk (84%), effective communication skills (62%), and competence with technical skills (45%) deemed most valuable. The managerial skills that were viewed to be important by employers were logistics (90%), creating written support materials (71%), and equipment management (62%). The qualities

employers perceived to be important lined up with the things academic institutions felt were important to educate their students about, leading the researchers to confirm that there is value in attaining a bachelor's degree from an OAP. Seaman et al.'s (2017) research supports Maningas & Simpson's (2003) research, even though more than a decade passed between the studies. The consistency in findings across the studies suggests that despite industry changes, the needs of employers have remained stable.

Maningas & Simpson (2003) show that many staffing managers have a strong desire for prospective employees to possess a Wilderness First Responder and considerable interpersonal skills. The most notable piece of research cited in the same article is that 55% of hiring managers sought employees who had a college-level education, A clear path for students to obtain wilderness medical training, interpersonal skills, and a college degree is through an OAP (Sugerman, 1999).

Alumni perspectives. Despite the wealth of research regarding the skills and experience that employers seek, I have yet to come across any research originating in the United States that directly addresses the attributes of an OAP that alumni perceive to be the most helpful in their careers. However, research emanating from the United Kingdom does address this question; Prince (2005) conducted research tracking the career pathways of "outdoor studies" graduates and "identifying the skills developed at an undergraduate level [that may] have contributed to the careers of these graduates" (p. 22). Prince (2005) found that while 98% of the program's graduates were employed, 30% were employed in a field unrelated to their degree indicating that the interpersonal, leadership, and managerial skills gained in the program are transferable and important to continue emphasizing. Interestingly, relevance of undergraduate studies to one's career is positively correlated with well-being and alumni finding undergraduate coursework

relevant to their career is a strong predictor of their value of the program (Gallup, 2018a; Gallup 2018b). While Prince's research is a useful contribution to our understanding, it is becoming dated. There appears to be a lack of research in the past two decades that addresses the value of an OAP degree from the lens of the alumni of these programs.

Purpose Statement and Research Questions

There is a demonstrated need for undergraduate degree-granting programs that prepare students for a career in the outdoor field (Turner et al., 2022). Companies strive to hire staff who have strong interpersonal skills, wilderness medical training, and a college degree (Maningas & Simpson, 2003; Seaman et al., 2017). An effective OAP can train graduates to meet the hiring criteria of outdoor organizations (Maningas & Simpson, 2003; Seaman et al., 2017; Turner et al., 2022). Yet, there appears to be little research that directly addresses the question of whether alumni believe their OAP effectively accomplished these goals. There is a need to provide higher education institutions with insights into the professional value of their programs and to assist alumni in recognizing and telling the story of this value.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. The two research questions are as follows:

- What experiences (if any) do alumni perceive as having impacted their careers, and in what ways?
- 2. What components of the undergraduate outdoor academic program are perceived by alumni to be most impactful on graduates' careers?

A modified Significant Life Experience approach was utilized to answer these research questions and explore alumni perspectives about the professional impact of OAPs. Answering these research questions with a Significant Life Experience framework provides valuable insights as to the value of OAPS and their career relevance to college administrators.

Significant Life Experience Theoretical Framework. The Significant Life Experience (SLE) theoretical framework emerged in the 1980s and was popularized by the research of Chawla (1998), Palmer (1993), and Tanner (1980). SLE is dependent on autobiographical memory and reflection to be salient, with most SLE studies conducted on how environmental experiences related to pro-environmental behaviors or careers in the environment (Chawla, 1998; Palmer, 1993; Tanner; 1980). Daniel (2003) modified this method to be used beyond environmental behaviors specifically, and since then, other studies (Altan & Lane, 2018; Howell & Allen; 2019; Ramírez & Allison, 2023; Wigglesworth & Heintzman, 2020) have utilized it more broadly as well. SLE has been applied in outdoor field research in relation to specific courses, such as participation in an Outward-Bound course (Daniel et al., 2022) or an OAP class (Daniel, 2007; Wigglesworth, 2017; Wigglesworth & Heintzman, 2020). This study applied the SLE theoretical framework in a slightly different capacity – to explore the experience of obtaining an undergraduate degree from an OAP, particularly as that experience relates to participants current careers.

Reflection in SLE. The SLE theoretical framework is relevant for understanding how experiences impact individuals' lives, asking the question, 'what experiences did individuals have that created lasting impact on their lives?' This lasting impact could refer to beliefs, preferences, understandings, and worldviews that are held by an individual today as a result of an experience (Chawla, 1998). This is accomplished through reflection. The accuracy of memory is outside of the scope of SLE, and instead of examining memories for lasting accuracy, SLE examines memories for lasting impact. As Neisser (1988) notes, memories of events do not have

to be accurate for the memory to impact the recollector. Notably, the OAPs alumni in this study place a strong emphasis on experiential education and reflection; SLE maps effectively with the emphasis on reflection that alumni participating in this study experienced in undergrad. In the past, SLE participants have alluded to experiences that impacted their careers (Daniel, 2003; Wigglesworth & Heintzman, 2020), yet careers were not explored directly in those surveys. In the next chapter, I will expand on how careers will be highlighted in this SLE research.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Utilizing an modified Significant Life Experience (SLE) theoretical framework (Chawla, 1998; Palmer, 1993; Tanner, 1980) and a mixed methods approach (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018), this study aimed to understand the aspects of higher education outdoor academic programs that alumni may attribute to having made an impact on their careers. In the past twenty years, research that seeks to assess if OAPs in higher education have impacted alumni careers has been minimal, with virtually none from the crucial perspective of alumni. Due to the lack of existing data, a convergent mixed methods methodology was well matched to answer the research questions by providing both quantitative and qualitative data (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). A convergent mixed methods approach means that the qualitative and quantitative data were sought simultaneously and brought together to determine where the two data sets "converge and diverge" (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018, p. 65). The data specifically highlight the perspectives of alumni in relation to their careers. For this study, Daniel et al.'s (2022) SLE survey was modified and used to collect quantitative and qualitative data simultaneously, analyzed separately, and then brought together for comparison.

This chapter will share why alumni of three OAPs in the southeast United States is appropriate for answering the research questions. Further, it will cover ethical considerations, data collection methods, and analysis procedures.

Population Selection and Sampling Strategy

The population for this study was alumni from the following outdoor academic undergraduate degree-granting institutions:

- 1) Brevard College: Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education
- 2) Montreat College: Outdoor Recreation Studies

3) Warren Wilson College: Outdoor Leadership

These three schools were selected for their long-standing OAPs. All three programs have been producing graduates for at least 25 years (Canberg & Daniels, 2006), and possess a variety of components inherent to a typical OAP (Brevard College, 2023; Montreat College, 2022; Sugerman, 1999; Taff et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2022; Warren Wilson College, 2022). Until as recently as 2023, each of these OAPs required that its students' complete coursework in introductory technical skills courses, an academic internship, and a certification in wilderness medicine (Brevard College, 2023; Montreat College, 2022; Warren Wilson College, 2023). Table 1 provides an overview of information about each of the outdoor academic programs selected for this research.

Table 1

	Brevard College	Montreat College	Warren Wilson College
Type of Degree	Bachelor of Arts	Bachelor of Science	Bachelor of Arts
Name of Degree	Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education	Outdoor Recreation Studies	Outdoor Leadership
Year Major Program Was Initiated	1996	1974	1993
Total Number of Program Graduates	373 majors	187 majors	303 majors and minors
Goal Number Respondents	22	22	25
Location	Brevard, North Carolina	Black Mountain, North Carolina	Swannanoa, North Carolina

Quick Facts about Brevard, Warren Wilson, and Montreat Colleges

At the core of this research is alumni recollecting and determining whether their OAP was truly impressionable on their career and essential to their life narrative (Bruner, 1987) so to

participate in this research, alumni must have graduated from their OAP five or more years ago (i.e., prior to or in 2017). Alumni as few as five years out from undergrad may still be working seasonal or entry-level jobs, whereas alumni from as many as 30 years ago may have a different understanding of how their undergraduate program experiences have impacted their professional development. The variability in the length of careers of the respondents provided a wide degree of insights for the study. Alumni who graduated less than five years ago were not included as they might not have had enough life experience post-graduation to determine if their OAP has been salient in their career.

Participant Recruitment Strategy

All alumni who graduated with a bachelor's degree in or prior to 2017 were contacted to participate in the study by the current program coordinator from their respective OAP or a school administrator. Note that while Montreat College's OAP has been graduating students since 1974, so many students graduated prior to the digital age and therefore no email addresses were collected with their records. Instead of aiming to get one response for every year going back to 1974, I sought responses going back to 1996 to match Brevard College's timeline.

The goal in having the program coordinators distribute the survey was that respondents might recognized their alma mater's email domain or a familiar name and be more likely to respond to the survey (Dillman et al., 2014). This method may have led to response bias as alumni with affection for their school or program coordinator may be more likely to go through the effort of filling out the survey, but the benefit of using a ".edu" email address associated with the alumni's alma mater lends credibility to the study.

Alumni were contacted via email five times (Dillman et al., 2014). In addition to email addresses, program coordinators posted the study on Facebook groups, Facebook pages,

Instagram pages, or messaging systems that the alumni might frequent (Dillman et al., 2014). For consistency, each current program coordinator was provided a communication guide that includes scripts for emails and Facebook group posts. See Appendix A for a copy of the Program Coordinator Communications Guide.

Sample Size. The sample was comprised of 130 participants who chose to complete the survey based on their interests, convenience, and availability; this approach is also known as a nonprobability sample (Creswell & Creswell, 2023). Although a nonprobability sampling method is not ideal as it can lead to bias based on the types of people who will elect to fill out a survey, it is the most frequently used sampling technique (Creswell & Creswell, 2023) and appropriate for this study.

The study strived to capture responses from individuals who are in a variety of phases of life. Therefore, the objective was to receive at least one response from one individual for every year that the OAP has existed, similar to the goals of Daniel et al.'s (2022) SLE research. I hoped to receive a combined total of at least 69 responses from alumni (refer to Table 1 for a specific number of goal responses from each institution). In acknowledgement that survey research and contacting alumni could have proven itself to be difficult, it is worth noting that if the goal total of responses was not met, the study would still provide valuable information if there was representation from the majority of graduation years represented.

Ethical Considerations

As Privetera (2020) posits: to avoid ethical concerns, surveys should not be hurtful or harmful to participants, participants should not be coerced or harassed into responding, and the anonymity and/or confidentiality of participants must be treated with the utmost respect and care by researchers; this survey meets those criteria. The survey did not ask participants to state their

names, which further served to protect respondents' anonymity and responses were treated confidentially.

Institutional Review Board Approval

This study required Western Carolina University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval. All survey respondents completed an informed consent document (see Appendix B for a copy of this document) and were adults with a college degree which implies all possess comfort with reading and expressing oneself in English. I received IRB approval through Western Carolina University. See Appendix C for a copy of the IRB Application Determination and Appendix D, E, and F for a copy of the Letters of Support provided by the program coordinators at the three institutions.

Researcher Subjectivity and Reflexivity

I am not a graduate of an OAP, although I took classes within Brevard College's Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education program during my tenure as a student there. As a current employee of the Academic Affairs Office at Brevard College, and as someone who hopes to see OAPs thrive, I am aware of my biases in this research. This will be addressed within the analysis phase with a rigorous coding and inter-coder process to be discussed in the "Data Analysis Procedures for Convergent Mixed Methods" section of this chapter.

Methods

Using an embedded mixed-methods SLE survey, this study generated qualitative and quantitative data to be used together for analysis, leading to a more concrete understanding of the aggregate and individual views of OAP alumni (Creswell & Creswell, 2023; Morling, 2018; Privitera, 2020).

Precedent for Data Collection Methods

Daniel et al. (2022) used an SLE survey to contact former North Carolina Outward

Bound course participants to learn if the courses were perceived to be life-altering. The SLE survey in this current study was based on the SLE survey employed by Daniel et al. (2022). The three major sections and many of the questions within those sections were adapted for OAP alumni. The goal of each question was modified to seek a narrower scope of answers by asking about impacts on career rather than impacts on life overall. Table 2 provides examples of some of the edited questions.

Table 2

Comparing Daniel et al. (2022) Survey to OAP SLE Survey

Daniel et al. (2022) Survey Question	Corresponding OAP SLE Survey
Did your Outward Bound course make a difference in your life in any way? Please explain why you think it did or did not.	Did your outdoor-related degree program make a difference in your life in any way? If your outdoor-related degree program made a difference in your life, please provide one or more specific examples of how it did so.
A typical Outward Bound course consists of various components (e.g., canoeing, evening debriefing, backpacking, group dynamics, etc.). From which Outward Bound course component(s) did you learn the most? Please briefly describe what you learned.	A typical outdoor-related degree program consists of various components (e.g., internships, outdoor education courses, faculty mentorship, peer interactions, etc.). From which outdoor-related degree program component(s) did you learn the most? Please briefly describe what you learned.
Has your opinion of what your Outward Bound course meant to you changed or remained the same since completing the course? Please explain why you think it has/has not changed.	Has your opinion of what your outdoor-related degree program meant to your career changed or remained the same in the years that followed the completion of your degree? Please explain your answer to the previous question.

Data Collection. The survey was distributed via Qualtrics, an internet survey platform,

as it is economical, convenient, and efficient (Creswell & Creswell, 2023; Privitera, 2020).

Given the widespread availability of the Internet in our modern age, there were no anticipated barriers to participation. The survey itself was reviewed by an expert panel comprised of OAP alumni and faculty who are affiliated with an OAP, and feedback from the panel was integrated.

The first section of the modified Daniel et al. (2022) SLE survey contained open-ended items. These items aim to ascertain if and how graduation from an OAP has impacted graduates' careers. The survey first asked if there has been an impact to avoid leading the respondents. For example, "Did your outdoor-related program make a difference in your life in any way?" is followed by "Please explain why you think your outdoor-related program did or did not make a difference in your life." Once answered, there was the opportunity for more open-ended items. These inquiries are in sections one and three of the survey and included "Has your opinion of what your outdoor-related degree program meant to your career changed or remained the same in the years that followed the completion of your degree?" and "Do you feel that the skills or knowledge you learned in your outdoor-related degree program are transferable to your current career?"

To understand which components of typical OAPs contain tremendous potential for impact, the second section of the survey asked respondents to rate a variety of traditional programmatic components on a Likert Scale. The Likert Scale contained the columns "not important," "slightly important," "moderately important," "very important," "extremely important," and "not applicable." The categories participants were asked to respond to included "certifications," "faculty mentorship," "job fair," "work study program," "peer mentorship," and "internship" amongst other categories. These categories were selected for their impact on students as suggested in the High Impact Practices literature referenced in Chapter Two, or because of their prevalence in OAP curriculum.

The third section of the survey included a series of questions that revealed concrete information about the type of respondent who answered the questions. Items participants responded to included, "What year did you graduate from your outdoor academic program?" Other questions asked participants to state their ethnicity, gender identity, average annual income, and if they have pursued any additional degrees after obtaining their undergraduate degree. See Appendix G for a complete copy of the modified survey as it was displayed in Qualtrics.

Timeline and Procedures for Data Collection

Upon a successful proposal, the survey was emailed from program coordinators to their corresponding alumni databases. To avoid the program coordinators fielding too many questions, my email was included in the instructions, and potential respondents contacted me directly with any questions or issues they experienced. The survey opened on October 18, 2023 and closed on December 8, 2023, marking the end of the data collection phase and the beginning of the data analysis phase. While the intent was for the different schools to send emails and post on social media, it was challenging to coordinate this effort across multiple academic calendars. Therefore, Table 3 indicates the timeline each school followed for their communications. Refer to Appendix A to review the Program Coordinator Communications Guide.

Table 3

	Brevard College	Montreat College	Warren Wilson College
Email 1	October 18, 2023	October 18, 2023	October 25, 2023
Email 2	October 26, 2023	October 26, 2023	November 2, 2023
Email 3	November 3, 2023	November 8, 2023	November 9, 2023

Timeline of OAP Communications with Alumni Database

Email 4	November 10, 2023	November 20, 2023	November 21, 2023
Email 5	November 22, 2023		
Social Media 1	October 23, 2023 (Instagram & Facebook)	October 20, 2023 (Instagram)	October 20, 2023 (Instagram)
Social Media 2			November 14, 2023 (Instagram)

Data Analysis Procedures for Convergent Mixed Methods

Quantitative Data Analysis

The following process for analyzing quantitative data applied primarily to the second section of the survey that dwelled on impactful components of OAPs and the third section of the survey which focused on demographics. Quantitative responses were analyzed for response frequencies using Google Sheets (Privitera, 2020). This process revealed large-scale trends in the data and allowed for an easy understanding of results. These analyses highlighted if there were certain components of an OAP experience that alumni perceived to be more impactful than others. In the analysis of the second section of the survey, the mean, median, mode, and average were calculated to illuminate trends of which OAP components were perceived by alumni to be impactful. This specifically addressed the second research question: "What components of the undergraduate outdoor academic program are perceived by alumni to be most impactful on graduates' careers?"

The analysis of the third section of the survey identified the respondent demographics, such as average income or how many OAP alumni have gone on to pursue another degree. This information gave context for the data shared in the first and second parts of the survey.

Qualitative Data Analysis

The coding of the qualitative responses followed Creswell & Creswell's (2023) five-step process. First, the data was read and organized, correcting any spelling errors or typos to make it easier to search for specific words within responses in the future. Then, the responses were looked at collectively, to assess what respondents are generally saying about their OAP experience and how it has impacted their career. In that phase, I kept notes in a designated column of the spreadsheet key with information to be analyzed later. Creswell & Creswell's (2023) third step is to code all the data; once this step was complete an intercoder reviewed 20% of the responses aiming for 80% or greater agreement in the codes, to lend credibility to the coding process (Creswell & Creswell, 2023; Saldaña, 2013), The fourth step of the process was to generate a description and themes and the fifth and final step is to represent those descriptions and themes (Creswell & Creswell, 2023). The qualitative data primarily served to answer the first question, "What experiences (if any) do alumni perceive as having impacted their careers, and in what ways?" but might serve to support the findings in the "components" section of the survey, answering the research question, "What components of the undergraduate outdoor academic program are perceived by alumni to be most impactful on graduates' careers?"

Comparing the Quantitative and Qualitative Data

The complete qualitative and quantitative data were compared to each other to identify themes present in both data sets, and themes that were only present in one (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). Then, a comparison discussion was written to represent the similarities and differences in the two data sets, highlighting quotes and themes from the qualitative questions and response frequencies for the quantitative data (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018).

With pre-existing studies supporting the professional value of an OAP degree, there remains a need to explore the value of these degrees from the perspective of alumni. Given this

need, the purpose of this study was to explore the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate OAP and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers.

The following section is the manuscript for the *Journal of Outdoor Education*, *Recreation, and Leadership.* This is in lieu of a traditional chapter four and five of the thesis document. The URL to submission guidelines can be found below using the link <u>https://js.sgamorepub.com/jorel/about/submissions</u>. This manuscript is going to be submitted under the Regular Paper category for consideration in a special issue of the *JOREL* focused on "The Outdoor Industry Workforce: Aligning Preparation and Opportunities." Manuscript length is generally 20-30 double-spaced pages (6,000-9,000 words) including all references, tables, and figures. This manuscript is 8,392 words and 34 pages all inclusive.

CHAPTER FOUR AND FIVE: JOREL JOURNAL MANUSCRIPT

The Life Significance of Undergraduate Outdoor Academic Programs:

Alumni Perspectives

Abstract

Undergraduate outdoor academic programs have existed in the United States of America since the 1970s. These programs necessitate financial support, copious time from students and faculty, access to outdoor spaces, and specialized training for faculty, and so despite a strong academic tradition, these programs are challenging to justify to college administrators. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. To address the gap in the literature, this study utilized a significant life experience theoretical framework and engaged alumni of three longstanding undergraduate outdoor academic programs via an Internet survey. The results indicate that respondents found their undergraduate outdoor academic program to be extremely impactful on their career whether their current work is in the outdoor industry or another field.

Keywords: higher education, outdoor academic program, Significant Life Experience

The Life Significance of Undergraduate Outdoor Academic Programs:

Alumni Perspectives

Outdoor academic programs in higher education assist in training future outdoor industry employees who work in the \$1.1 trillion outdoor recreation economy in the United States of America (Outdoor Recreation Roundtable, 2023). However, even as the industry is booming, outdoor academic program budgets are being reduced and entire programs are being eliminated across higher education (Turner et al., 2022). There is an urgent need to ascertain the value of these degrees to college and university administrators (Seaman et al., 2017). The alumni perspective is critical to increase our understanding of the long-term impacts of studying in and graduating from outdoor academic programs, specifically to understand the ways in which skills and knowledge transfer to careers.

Literature Review

Possessing a variety of names (e.g., "Parks and Recreation Management," "Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education," or "Outdoor Program Management" to name a few), outdoor academic programs are located in a variety of colleges (e.g., Health, Education, or Business) across the United States of America (Jostad et al., 2023). For this study, the term outdoor academic program (OAP) refers to any undergraduate degree-granting program that has an outdoor education or outdoor leadership component (Turner et al., 2022). OAPs emphasizing adventure have existed since the 1970s (Guthrie et al., 2012), but in recent years programs are being eliminated by college and university administrations. Indeed, few people know of OAPs or the job opportunities that might be afforded to OAP alumni (Seaman et al., 2017), which may impact college administrator decisions to close these programs..

The State of Higher Education

In a study on higher education student trends over the past 50 years, Eagan et. al. (2016) reported that 86% of students enroll in college to get a better job. Indeed, colleges are aware of this and many have responded by developing programs to assist students in preparing for and pursuing chosen careers. Considering that many potential students are increasingly questioning the value of a college degree given due to the cost, it seems wise for colleges to understand the connection between an undergraduate education and a vibrant, secure career (Gardner, 2023).

Colleges are integrating "High Impact Practices" or HIPs into the design of these career readiness initiatives to assist in the creation of successful programs. HIPs are elements of an undergraduate institution that have been demonstrated to be extremely effective in helping college students develop professionally, through such things as creating ePortfolios, taking career readiness courses, and completing internships (American Association of Colleges and Universities, n.d.). A Gallup-Purdue (2014) survey unveiled what they dubbed to be "The Big Six" college experiences that have been shown to indicate well-being later in life. The Big Six are one type of HIP that schools could target:

- 1) My professors at [Institution] cared about me as a person.
- 2) I had at least one professor at [Institution] who made me excited about learning.
- While attending [Institution], I had a mentor who encouraged me to pursue my goals and dreams.
- While attending [Institution], I had a job or internship that allowed me to apply what I learned in the classroom.
- 5) While attending [Institution] I worked on a project that took a semester or more to complete.

 I was extremely active in extracurricular activities and organizations while attending [Institution].

All of the Big Six criteria emphasize skills and relationships that last beyond college. Further, the final four criteria focus on experiences that may aid students in finding a career. Prioritizing the Big Six criteria could create institutional cultures of prioritizing experiences and transferable skills over the title of a major.

Questioning the Value of Undergraduate Fields

The value of certain degrees over others is a seemingly perpetual topic in higher education. Students may choose a degree that they expect will have a reliable return on investment (ROI) in consideration of the debt many incur to attend college. STEM and business majors attract many students with the understanding that graduates will be able to quickly secure high-income earning jobs (Gallup, 2017). Students see the ROI of these majors as reliable, and college administrator reasoning follows that emphasizing those degrees will attract more students.

Gallup (2017) found that 40% of students with a bachelor's degree would select a different major if they were to go back and do it all over again. Although the study didn't cover the reason(s) so many graduates would be interested in choosing a different major, this research suggests that it is important to teach generalizable and transferable skills in undergraduate coursework to equip students regardless of their career path. In response to this, career readiness initiatives have the goal to teach skills such as teamwork, leadership, and communication that can be useful to graduates regardless of their future career.

OAPs are no exception to these trends. Many OAPs market that they teach transferable skills, and alumni will be able to land a job in their field of interest within a year of graduation.

Further, by the inherently experiential curriculum and small class sizes necessary to teach skillsbased OAP courses, many OAPs are well-positioned to meet the criteria of the Big Six outlined by Gallup-Purdue (2014).

Why are OAPs Being Cut?

A census completed in 2021 found there were 128 higher education OAPs in the United States (Turner et al., 2022). However, that number is already dwindling; as of October 2023, fifteen OAPs have been eliminated (Bell et al., 2024). OAPs consume a vast amount of time and financial resources compared to other programs found at universities (Potter et al., 2012) in addition to OAPs requiring more face-to-face instruction, smaller class sizes, greater access to outdoor spaces, and more consequential situations (Turner et al., 2022). It is increasingly challenging to justify the resources these programs require to those unfamiliar with the outdoor field, particularly as research supporting the value of graduating from an OAP is lacking. Administrators who are unfamiliar with the outcomes of graduating with an OAP are often the ones making the decision to close programs, and to better inform their decision to close a program, first-hand accounts of the value of an OAP are needed.

Employer and Faculty Perspectives on Professional Impact of OAPs

Administrators could learn the value of OAPs by reviewing the perspective of outdoor industry employers or OAP faculty. Seaman et al. (2017) assessed undergraduate OAP faculty members' and employers' perceived value of a degree from an OAP in a quantitative study of 59 OAPs and 134 companies that would potentially hire graduates of OAPs. Companies selected skills most sought when hiring (e.g., leadership, technical skills, etc) and when the research team compared the skills companies sought after with the skills OAPs felt they provided, the traits selected by both were in alignment. This led the researchers to confirm there is value graduating from an OAP.

Maningas & Simpson (2003) found that that many staffing managers have a strong desire for prospective employees to possess a Wilderness First Responder and considerable interpersonal skills. The same study shows that 55% of outdoor industry hiring managers sought employees who had a college-level education. A clear path for students to obtain wilderness medical training, interpersonal skills, and a college degree is through an OAP (Sugerman, 1999). **Professional Value as Perceived by Alumni**

A study examining alumni perspectives on their OAP experiences comes from the United Kingdom, where Prince (2005) found many alumni were working in a field they perceived to be indirectly or not related at all to their undergraduate studies, and many experienced high levels of job satisfaction despite earning low salaries. Prince (2005) found that there are benefits to graduating from an OAP, with alumni believing their degree taught them important and transferable skills like problem solving, teamwork, communication, and self-motivation.

Articulating the Value of a Degree

OAPs need information to continue to secure institutional support and explain the value of their degree to prospective students. Studies from Maningas & Simpson (2003) and Taff (2016) demonstrate the professional value of a degree from an OAP as employers and faculty understand it. However, there remains a dearth of research on the alumni themselves. Therefore, to uncover first-hand perspectives on OAPs and their career relevance, the purpose of this study is to explore the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate OAP and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. Answering the research questions with a Significant

Life Experience framework provides valuable insights as to the value of OAPS and their careerrelated relevance to college administrators.

Significant Life Experience Theoretical Framework

This research utilized a modified Significant Life Experience (SLE) theoretical framework (Chawla, 1998; Daniel, 2003; Palmer, 1993; Tanner; 1980). SLE is dependent on memory and reflection to be salient, with most SLE studies conducted on how environmental experiences related to pro-environmental behaviors (Chawla, 1998; Palmer, 1993; Tanner; 1980). SLE has been applied in outdoor field research in relation to specific courses, such as participation in an Outward Bound or OAP course (Daniel, 2007; Daniel et al., 2022; Wigglesworth & Heintzman, 2020). This study applied an SLE theoretical framework in a slightly different capacity – to explore the experience of obtaining an undergraduate degree from an OAP, particularly as that experience relates to participants' current careers. In the past, SLE participants have alluded to experiences that impacted their careers (Daniel, 2003; Wigglesworth & Heintzman, 2020), yet careers were not explored directly in those surveys.

SLE is an appropriate theoretical framework for understanding how experiences impact individuals' lives, asking the question, 'what experiences did individuals have that created lasting impact on their lives?' This lasting impact could refer to beliefs, preferences, understandings, and worldviews that are held by an individual today as a result of an experience (Chawla, 1998). This is accomplished through reflection. Notably, the OAPs in this study place a strong emphasis on experiential education and reflection; an SLE theoretical framework mirrors the emphasis on reflection that OAP alumni likely experienced in college. Accuracy of memory (or verity of memory) is outside of the scope of SLE as instead of examining memories for lasting accuracy, SLE examines memories for lasting impact (or utility of memory) (Neisser, 1988). This distinction is important because, as Neisser (1988) notes, memories of events do not have to be accurate for the memory to impact the recollector and for the event to be essential within their life narrative.

Methods

Utilizing a modified Significant Life Experience (SLE) theoretical framework (Chawla, 1998; Daniel, 2003; Palmer, 1993; Tanner, 1980) and a mixed methods approach (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018), this study aimed to understand the aspects of higher education OAPs that alumni may attribute to having an impact on their careers. In the past twenty years, research that seeks to assess if OAPs in higher education have impacted alumni careers has been minimal, with virtually none from the perspective of alumni. A convergent mixed methods methodology was employed to answer the research questions (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). Daniel et al.'s (2022) SLE survey was modified and used to collect quantitative and qualitative data with the intent of creating a more concrete understanding of the aggregate and individual views of OAP alumni (Creswell & Creswell, 2023; Privitera, 2020).

Site Selection and Sampling Strategy

The population for this study was alumni from the following outdoor academic undergraduate degree-granting institutions:

- 1. Brevard College: Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education
- 2. Montreat College: Outdoor Recreation Studies
- 3. Warren Wilson College: Outdoor Leadership

These schools were selected for their long-standing OAPs. All three programs have been producing graduates for at least 25 years (Canberg & Daniels, 2006) and possess a variety of components inherent to a typical OAP (Sugerman, 1999; Taff et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2022).

Until 2022, each of these OAPs required that its students complete coursework in introductory technical skills courses, an academic internship, and a certification in wilderness medicine (Brevard College, 2023; Montreat College, 2022; Warren Wilson College, 2022). Table 1 provides an overview of information about each of the outdoor academic programs selected for this research.

Table 1

	Brevard College	Montreat College	Warren Wilson College
Type of Degree	Bachelor of Arts	Bachelor of Science	Bachelor of Arts
Name of Degree	Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education	Outdoor Recreation Studies	Outdoor Leadership
Year Major Program Was Initiated	1996	1974	1993
Total Number of Program Graduates	373 majors	187 majors	303 majors and minors
Goal Number Respondents	22	22	25

Quick Facts about Brevard, Warren Wilson, and Montreat Colleges

Precedent for Data Collection

At the core of this research was alumni recollecting and determining whether their OAP was truly influential on their career and essential to their life narrative, as determined by the alumnus themself (Bruner, 1987). Therefore, to participate in this research, alumni had to have graduated from their OAP five or more years ago (i.e., prior to or in 2017). With the intent of capturing responses from individuals who were in a variety of phases of life, the objective was to receive at least one response from one individual for every year the OAP has existed, similar to the goals of Daniel et al.'s (2022) study.

This research used the survey from Daniel et al.'s (2022) study, but it was modified in a few crucial ways. The survey in this study differed in that it was adapted for OAP alumni and sought a narrower scope of answers by asking about impacts on career rather than impacts on life overall. The survey was distributed via Qualtrics and was first reviewed by an expert panel comprised of OAP alumni and faculty from the three schools.

Participant Recruitment Strategy

All alumni who graduated with a bachelor's degree during the designated time span were contacted by a representative from their alma mater (typically the current OAP coordinator) and invited to participate in the study. Note that while Montreat College's OAP has been graduating students since 1974, many students graduated prior to the digital age and therefore no email addresses were collected with their records. Instead of aiming to get one response for every year going back to 1974, this study sought responses going back to 1996 to match Brevard College's timeline.

The goal in having the program coordinators or another college representative distribute the survey was that respondents might recognize their alma mater's email domain and be more likely to respond to the survey (Dillman et al., 2014). This method may have led to sampling bias as alumni with affection for their school or program coordinator may be more likely to go through the effort of filling out the survey (Privitera. 2020). Alumni were intended to be contacted via email five times and program coordinators were instructed to post the study on their program's social media twice (Dillman et al., 2014). For consistency, each current program coordinator was provided a communication guide that included scripts for emails and social media posts. While the intention was for the schools to send emails and post on social media on the same day, it was challenging to coordinate this effort across multiple academic calendars.

Therefore, Table 2 indicates the timeline the different schools followed for each of their communications.

Table 2

Timeline of OAP Communications with Alumni Database

	Brevard College	Montreat College	Warren Wilson College
Email 1	October 18, 2023	October 18, 2023	October 25, 2023
Email 2	October 26, 2023	October 26, 2023	November 2, 2023
Email 3	November 3, 2023	November 8, 2023	November 9, 2023
Email 4	November 10, 2023	November 20, 2023	November 21, 2023
Email 5	November 22, 2023		
Social Media 1	October 23, 2023 (Instagram & Facebook)	October 20, 2023 (Instagram)	October 20, 2023 (Instagram)
Social Media 2			November 14, 2023 (Instagram)

Data Analysis

The quantitative response analysis generated response frequencies to reveal large-scale trends in the data (Privitera, 2020). These frequencies illuminated components of the OAP experience that alumni perceived to be impactful and identified respondent demographics.

The qualitative analysis followed Creswell & Creswell's (2023) five-step coding process. First, the data was read and organized and secondly looked at collectively to assess what respondents are generally saying about their OAP experience and how it has impacted their career. The third step was to code all the data; once this step was complete an intercoder reviewed 20% of the responses aiming for 80% or greater agreement in the codes, to lend credibility to the coding process (Creswell & Creswell, 2023). In this case, when the intercoder process was completed, there was a minimum of 83% agreement for each of the five questions coded which met the criteria of Creswell & Creswell's (2023) coding process. Then, following the recommendations of Creswell & Creswell (2023), the fourth step of the process was to generate a description and emergent themes. The frequency of themes was determined by adding up the total number of codes assigned and dividing that total by the number of codes that were a part of a theme. Since individual responses might contain multiple codes, the n of codes as a part of a theme or question is higher than the n of responses. The fifth and final step was to represent those descriptions and themes (Creswell & Creswell, 2023). For this study, the themes are presented with representative quotes.

Once the qualitative and quantitative data analysis concluded, the two data sets were brought together for comparison (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018)

Results

The survey received a total of 130 responses. Brevard College and Warren Wilson College received responses for nearly all the years this study sought responses. Montreat College also received a good distribution of responses, received at least one response every four years. Table 3 shows the distribution of survey responses organized by alma mater.

Table 3

Year Graduated	Brevard College	Montreat College	Warren Wilson College
1993		2	
1994		1	
1995			
1996		2	
1997			4

Participants by Year Graduated

TOTAL	Brevard College Respondents 41	Montreat College Respondents 36	Warren Wilson College Respondents 53
Year Unknown		1	
2017	3		2
2016	2	3	3
2015	1	2	3
2014	4	3	1
2013	4	3	3
2012	3	2	1
2011	4	4	3
2010	3	3	1
2009	2	2	3
2008	2		5
2007			3
2006	1		3
2001	2	2	1
2003	3	-	1
2002	2	1	2
2001	1	2	5
2000	1	2	4
1999 2000	1 2	3	2 4
1998	1	2	2
			-

48% (*n*=60) of the respondents identified as men, 40% (*n*=50) as women, and the remaining alumni either did not share or their gender did not fit within the confines of "man" or "woman". The respondents have careers in social work, academia, wilderness therapy, outdoor retail, and library services and are tradespeople, firefighters, military personnel, teachers, guides

and entrepreneurs. 45% (n=59) have earned or are earning additional degrees in topics ranging from Accounting to Divinity, Counseling to Multimedia Journalism. 94% (n=116) of respondents identify as White/Caucasian. Although all respondents attended college in the southeast, they have spread out to a variety of states including Alaska, Michigan, California, Washington, Colorado, and internationally in New Zealand and South Korea. 40% (n=50) still call North Carolina home.

When asked if the skills or knowledge learned in their OAP was transferable to their current career, 89% (n=110) of respondents said yes, 9% (n=11) said maybe, and 2% (n=3) said no. Of the 97% (n=120) of graduates who are employed, 42% (n=50) believe their career to be in the outdoor field. Therefore, it seems that the alumni in this study would agree with faculty who assert there is career transferability and value in OAP learnings (Seaman et al., 2017). In fact, only 7% (n=9) of respondents say they would not recommend earning a degree from an OAP to someone who was interested in working in the outdoor field. Those 7% (n=9) often said a degree in another field might give that student more options should they wish to leave the outdoor field or that an undergraduate degree isn't necessary to work in the industry; that is: someone interested in working in the outdoor field would be better off gaining certifications and experience to start work immediately.

The following sections will explore the themes that emerged from the following open response survey questions: a) What were your most important takeaways or learnings (if any) from your [OAP]?, b) If your [OAP] made a difference in your life, please provide one or more specific examples of how it did so., c) A typical [OAP] consists of various components (e.g., internships, outdoor education courses, field (out-of-traditional classroom) experiences, faculty mentorship, peer interactions, etc.). From which [OAP] component(s) did you learn the most?

Please briefly describe what you learned., and d) Please explain your answer to [Has your opinion of what your [OAP] meant to your career changed or remained the same in the years that followed the completion of your degree?]. For each question, the four emergent themes with the greatest quantity of responses will be reported.

Important Takeaways

When asked about important takeaways from their OAP, participant responses were categorized into six emergent themes: a) interpersonal skills, b) technical skill improvement, c) intrapersonal awareness, and d) non-curricular features of OAPs. Refer to Table 4 for the frequency of each theme.

Table 4

	Total	Frequency
Interpersonal Skills	<i>n</i> =130	37%
Technical Skills Improvement	<i>n</i> =89	35%
Intrapersonal Awareness	<i>n</i> =49	14%
Non-Curricular Features of OAPs	<i>n</i> =32	1%

Important Takeaways Themes

Interpersonal Skills

Participants often noted their value for interpersonal skills increased while enrolled in their OAP or that their ability to engage with others increased. This theme includes references to teamwork, feedback, leadership, group dynamics, and the importance of relationships. One graduate shared their takeaway was, "The ability to work with a wide spectrum of people in sometimes challenging ways and environments (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 2006)." Another respondent said, ",,, connecting with people where they are is the first step to connecting them to the outdoors, either in their home or elsewhere (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 2009)."

Technical Skill Improvement

Technical skill improvement was also a key takeaway for many participants. A Warren Wilson graduate shared, "I felt more confident in outdoor recreation situations like backpacking rock climbing, canoeing, etc. (2002)," and a Brevard College alumnus responded that they learned "how to keep myself and others out of danger in the wilderness (2003)."

Intrapersonal Awareness

In addition to the growth in their awareness and competence for working with others and their technical skills, respondents also noticed personal growth and an increase in self-awareness, saying "I learned practical skills that gave me self-confidence and taught me persistence and resilience (Montreat College alumnus, 2011)," and "confidence in my skills, and humility in face of the challenges that come from wilderness travel (Montreat College alumnus, 2014)."

Non-Curricular Features of OAPs

Many respondents found their takeaways related to the non-curricular features of their OAP. This theme includes responses which expressed gratitude to faculty for their mentorship, the benefit of the outdoor experiences they had in college, or their understanding that having experiential teaching methods applied in their courses was beneficial for their growth or comprehension of the content. In gratitude to a faculty member, one respondent said, "no real world job assignment will hold you to a higher standard than one by Ken Kalisch (Montreat College alumnus, 2016)."

Made a Difference

When asked if their OAP made a difference in their life, 95% (n=124) of respondents replied that it had. Compared to other life experiences, 8% (n=10) of respondents said that OAP experience was "most influential" on their career while 60% (n=79) of respondents said their OAP was "very influential."

The survey followed this question by requesting that respondents share an example of how their OAP had made a difference. Six themes emerged from these responses: a) skills learned, b) career relevance, c) transformational nature of OAPs, and d) relationships with people.

Table 5

	Total	Frequency
Skills Learned	<i>n</i> =162	48%
Career Relevance	<i>n</i> =110	32%
Transformational Nature of OAPs	<i>n</i> =18	.5%
Relationship with People	<i>n</i> =18	.5%

Skills Learned

Many respondents mentioned specific skills related to leadership, education, facilitation, program development and administration, or outdoor competencies. Other skills included in this theme are traits that respondents learned or developed in their OAP, like resilience, adaptability, or courage. These were grouped in a theme titled "skills learned" and are captured in a quote from this respondent,

I think being an outdoor leadership major gave me the opportunity to develop leadership, planning and people skills that have transferred to jobs and situations beyond the outdoor field. Being flexible, adaptable, and able to lead groups or teams has been extremely valuable (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 2017).

Career Relevance

Career relevance emerged as a theme after many respondents referenced the transferability their OAP learnings to their current career, the beneficial networking opportunities they experienced in undergrad, or ways in which their OAP experience clarified their career path.

> Some people in the industry will tell you that experience working is more valuable than an [outdoor leadership] education, but (anecdotally) when I look around at the peers I graduated with, those still in the industry tend to have worked their way up into higher positions. I think my degree gave me a certain level of professionalism coming into the industry which directly translated into being able to apply the work experience I gained more effectively (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 2008).

A Brevard College alumnus also shared, "I have worked as a kayak tour guide, a combat engineer, and now as a wildland firefighter. I have used and still use almost daily many of the skills [acquired] in my degree program (2003)."

Transformational Nature of OAPs

Some respondents found the value of their OAP was in its transformational nature. Some alumni shared they became a "better person" because of their OAP, letting go of bad habits or bad relationships. One alumnus said, "I got healthier as a person: physically, mentally, and emotionally (Brevard College alumnus, 2012)" and another said, "Most importantly, the person I became within the program was kinder and gentler than the [person] who entered. And I first began viewing myself more as a leader and less as a loner within the program (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 1997)."

Relationships with People

Other respondents indicated the value of their OAP was that it created beneficial relationships with people, including lasting friendships with faculty and classmates, or created spaces for the respondents to have impactful experiences with their family. Two respondents even mentioned they met their life partner in their OAP. One Montreat College alumnus spoke to the lasting friendships developed in an OAP: "I had a great time, made lifelong friends, had wonderful instructors that invested in me and became mentors (2011).

Educative Components

To answer the second research question of which components are perceived to be most impactful on alumni's careers, a Likert scale was used to rank components, and an open-ended question was asked to determine what was learned from the most impactful program components. Table 6 is organized with components in descending order based on the highest combined rankings of "extremely important" and "very important."

Table 6

	Extremely Important	Very Important	Moderately Important	Slightly Important	Not Important	Not Applicable
Faculty Mentorship	54% (<i>n</i> =70)	26% (<i>n</i> =34)	10% (<i>n</i> =13)	4% (<i>n</i> =5)	3% (<i>n</i> =3)	5% (<i>n</i> =6)
Peer Friendship	45% (<i>n</i> =59)	29% (<i>n</i> =38)	17% (<i>n</i> =22)	7% (<i>n</i> =9)	2% (<i>n</i> =3)	0% (<i>n</i> =0)
Exposure to New Outdoor Activities	45% (<i>n</i> =59)	27% (<i>n</i> =35)	21% (<i>n</i> =28)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	1% (<i>n</i> =1)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)
Certifications	43% (<i>n</i> =57)	28% (<i>n</i> =36)	19% (<i>n</i> =25)	5% (<i>n</i> =6)	2% (<i>n</i> =2)	4% (<i>n</i> =5)

Importance of OAP Components

Internship	37% (<i>n</i> =48)	34% (<i>n</i> =44)	12% (<i>n</i> =15)	5% (<i>n</i> =7)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	10% (<i>n</i> =13)
OAP Curriculum	26% (<i>n</i> =34)	42% (<i>n</i> =55)	23% (<i>n</i> =30)	5% (<i>n</i> =6)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	2% (<i>n</i> =2)
Immersion Semester	36% (<i>n</i> =47)	14% (<i>n</i> =18)	5% (<i>n</i> =6)	2% (<i>n</i> =2)	1% (<i>n</i> =1)	44% (<i>n</i> =57)
"Discovery" or North Carolina Outward Bound Course	30% (<i>n</i> =39)	17% (<i>n</i> =22)	8% (<i>n</i> =11)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	39% (<i>n</i> =51)
Practicum	19% (<i>n</i> =25)	25% (<i>n</i> =33)	28% (<i>n</i> =32)	12% (<i>n</i> =15)	4% (<i>n</i> =5)	16% (<i>n</i> =21)
Work Study Program	25% (<i>n</i> =33)	14% (<i>n</i> =18)	10% (<i>n</i> =13)	8% (<i>n</i> =10)	4% (<i>n</i> =5)	40% (<i>n</i> =52)
Networking Opportunities	12% (<i>n</i> =16)	24% (<i>n</i> =32)	27% (<i>n</i> =35)	15% (<i>n</i> =20)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	18% (<i>n</i> =24)
Peer Mentorship	12% (<i>n</i> =16)	23% (<i>n</i> =30)	28% (<i>n</i> =37)	12% (<i>n</i> =15)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	22% (<i>n</i> =29)
Outing Club	11% (<i>n</i> =14)	17% (<i>n</i> =22)	18% (<i>n</i> =23)	13% (<i>n</i> =17)	8% (<i>n</i> =10)	34% (<i>n</i> =45)
Teaching Assistantship	16% (<i>n</i> =21)	12% (<i>n</i> =15)	8% (<i>n</i> =11)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	7% (<i>n</i> =9)	54% (<i>n</i> =71)
Program Alumni	9% (<i>n</i> =12)	13% (<i>n</i> =17)	24% (<i>n</i> =32)	19% (<i>n</i> =25)	15% (<i>n</i> =19)	21% (<i>n</i> =27)
Conference(s)	3% (<i>n</i> =4)	27% (<i>n</i> =22)	25% (<i>n</i> =33)	21% (<i>n</i> =27)	8% (<i>n</i> =11)	26% (<i>n</i> =34)
International Travel with OAP	11% (<i>n</i> =14)	7% (<i>n</i> =9)	4% (<i>n</i> =5)	2% (<i>n</i> =3)	11% (<i>n</i> =8)	70% (<i>n</i> =92)
Job Fair(s)	2% (<i>n</i> =2)	12% (<i>n</i> =15)	22% (<i>n</i> =29)	21% (<i>n</i> =28)	13% (<i>n</i> =17)	31% (<i>n</i> =40)
Other Clubs	4% (<i>n</i> =5)	8% (<i>n</i> =11)	20% (<i>n</i> =26)	13% (<i>n</i> =17)	10% (<i>n</i> =13)	45% (<i>n</i> =59)

The findings suggest that relationships with faculty and peers, outdoor pursuits,

certifications, and internships have been crucial to the careers of the respondents. However, these are relatively universal categories across OAP curricula, and therefore relatively few respondents stated any of those were not applicable; there are a larger number of alumni who can provide an insightful response on the impact of those categories. The opposite is true as well: international travel with OAP, job fair(s), and clubs are ranked as some of the least impactful components, but when adjusted to remove the "not applicable" respondents from the total percentage, the perceived impact increases noticeably. For example, 38% (n=14) of the 27 respondents who experienced international travel found that experience to be "extremely impactful." While this ranking system cannot be a blueprint for the perfect OAP experience, it can provide insight into which components have had a lasting impact on participants.

Evolution of Opinion of OAP

When asked if their opinion of their OAP had changed or remained the same post-grad, 49% (n=64) said their opinion had changed a little, 26% (n=34) said it had changed a lot, 22% (n=29) said it had remained the same, and 3% (n=4) said they were unsure. Four themes emerged from the following question: "Please explain your answer to 'Has your opinion of what your [OAP] meant to your career changed or remained the same in the years that followed the completion of your degree?" These four themes are a) career outcomes, b) gratitude for OAP, c) degree critique, and d) financial burden.

Table 7

	Total	Frequency
Career Outcomes	<i>n</i> =80	39%

Evolution of Opinion of OAP Themes

Gratitude for OAP	<i>n</i> =67	32%
Degree Critique	<i>n</i> =28	14%
Financial Burden	<i>n</i> =18	1%

Career Outcomes

Respondents' understanding of how their OAP related to their career often evolved over the years, with many learning the degree was more transferable than they had understood it to be in college or that the network they developed in college was beneficial beyond their time in undergrad. A Warren Wilson College alumnus shared, "because the program focuses so much on group process, debriefs, and experiential education, its applications to the modern business world are ubiquitous (2001)." Another respondent captured this idea by saying:

> After meeting so many people in education, I am grateful that I took a different path and did not graduate from a traditional education path first. The fact that the methods and philosophies discussed in my undergraduate courses could adapt to so many situations meant that I was able to think on my feet easily and adapt to any situation (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 2003),

Gratitude for OAP

Many respondents expressed gratitude for their OAP, and noticed their gratitude increased over time in the years since they graduated. While some noted their appreciation for interpersonal skills increased, for others this was a more general statement.

I don't think I could have realized how useful the entirety of my [Outdoor Leadership] education was, from how to teach to how to lead to understanding groups to running a business. I am still surprised at how valuable my degree was (Warren Wilson College alumnus, 2000).

Degree Critiques

Some respondents found that their appreciation for the degree lessened or was challenged over time. A handful of respondents reached the conclusion that a degree was not necessary to work in the outdoor field while others found their OAP curriculum lacking, stating they wished they had taken more business classes before they left school. One alumnus said, "I have benefited more from other experiences as I've gotten further removed from college (Montreat alumnus, 2001)," and an alumnus who guides multi-day trips stated, "I became more sure that I could have had the career I've had with just about any degree (Warren Wilson, 2001)."

Financial Burden of Degree or Field

Although the financial burden associated with earning a bachelor's degree is not unique to OAPs, it is still worth noting that many alumni mentioned the cost of the degree was a challenge for them. Some alumni expressed dismay with the price tag associated with the degree, as one Brevard College graduate captures:

> My change in opinion is more about undergraduate studies in general as opposed to outdoor specific education. Through working with many people- some in high levels/management/leadership that did not have degrees in the field/didn't have degrees at all, I've seen that higher education is not nearly as "essential" as my guidance [counselors] made it seem to be. I've known many people who are working in jobs in or out of the outdoors industry, that do not require a degree, and many who are working outside the industry who are still reeling from the massive amounts of student debt (Brevard College alumnus, 2009).

Other respondents articulated their financial frustrations centered on the standard compensation standards in the outdoor industry,

The outdoor profession needs to work really hard to increase the pay ranges for students seeking these degrees. I don't think it is acceptable to pay someone who invested in a 4-year degree a non-living wage (Brevard College alumnus, 2000).

In alignment with convergent mixed methods research, it is important to conclude by emphasizing the importance of reading all of the qualitative and quantitative data within the context of each other (Creswell & Creswell, 2023). As one respondent eloquently expresses, the nature of an OAP might be that the sum is greater than its individual parts, so in moving towards the discussion, this study commits to looking at the individual questions as part of the collective.

> You can't isolate just one component because the value is the classic "the sum is greater than the parts." It was the mentorship that happened alongside peer interactions in an outdoor setting pursuing adventure sports as well as introspective betterment, etc. None of these components would have been much good without the inclusion of the other components (Montreat College alumnus, 2009).

Discussion

This study and its findings bolster the existing OAP literature, and support the findings of previous studies on perspectives of OAP faculty and outdoor industry employers (Bell et al., 2017; Prince, 2005; Seaman et al., 2017). Prince (2005) found that OAP alumni often do not work in a field they believe to be related to their undergraduate degree, as is true for the respondents in the current study. Also similar to Prince's (2005) research, the OAP graduates in this study believed teamwork, leadership, adaptability, communication, and problem solving

were all critical skills they developed while in school, which are also skills Seaman et al. (2017) found to be valued by outdoor industry employers.

The current study's alumni believe their OAP trained them in the areas that outdoor employers desire in their staff. Alumni repeatedly indicated their leadership skills grew while completing their undergraduate degree; therefore, OAP alumni could be strong candidates at the companies Seaman et al. (2017) surveyed, as 87% of companies believed leadership skills to be the most desirable quality when hiring. Similarly, alumni found certifications to be the fourth most important component of their OAPs agreeing with Seaman et al.'s (2017) findings that organizations believe national-level certifications are a minimum credential for hiring staff. Although the alumni in the current study expressed a desire for greater business skill development, Seaman et al. (2017) found that outdoor employers favor logistical skills over business skills when hiring for managerial positions; perhaps the lack of business skills taught in OAPs does not disadvantage OAP alumni as much as they believe.

Respondents also shared their appreciation for interpersonal skills grew increasingly following their graduation. Maningas & Simpson (2003) acknowledge that hiring managers at outdoor companies hire for interpersonal skills over specific technical skills; OAP alumni seem well suited to meet that need. However, specific alumni shared they found their technical skills extremely relevant in their workplace. For example, a naval officer stated an Advanced Navigation course was a "cornerstone" in his profession (Brevard College alumnus, 2013) and a flight medic shared their rappelling skills were crucial in their career (Montreat College alumnus, 1993).

While the previous work on the Big Six (Gallup-Purdue, 2014) did not guide this study, the connections between this study's findings and the Big Six are notable. The first three criteria

of the Big Six include the student's relationship with faculty, which connects to the themes of "Non-Curricular Features of OAP" and "Relationships with People." The development of the skills alumni value would not be possible without the dedication of faculty and the ability to put their skills into practice, so unsurprisingly faculty mentorship and internships were viewed as extremely impactful by the respondents indicating that these OAPs accomplish three out of six of the Big Six (Gallup-Purdue, 2014). Criteria four ("While attending [Institution] I worked on a project that took a semester or more to complete.") is often met by the OAPs as well, accomplished by the Intensive Field Based experiences (e.g., Immersion, Discovery, North Carolina Outward Bound School course, Voice of the Rivers) and the Capstone projects offered in courses such as Program Planning and Design at Warren Wilson or Risk Management at Brevard College. Criteria five of the Big Six ("While attending [Institution], I had an internship or job that allowed me to apply what I was learning outside of the classroom.") was achieved too, as up until 2022 the three schools included an academic internship as a part of their graduation requirements. To support this criterion, when the alumni in this survey responded to a Likert scale of OAP components that have been impactful on their career, internships were ranked as the fourth most impactful component (refer to Table 6 for more information). The final component of the Big Six corresponds with students being extremely active in clubs or other organizations while in school (Gallup-Purdue, 2014). Most institutions leave the involvement of the student in co-curricular activities up to the student's prerogative. However, per the Likert scale responses, most students did not find their extracurricular or co-curricular activities like Outing Clubs, other clubs, or volunteering, to be impactful on their career. This does not necessarily mean that the students weren't extremely active per Big Six's definition (Gallup-Purdue, 2014), but it does appear that extracurricular or co-curricular activities might have been

the "weakest link" for these OAP alumni. Therefore, OAP faculty might investigate ways to further encourage students to engage in or create fulfilling relationships with organizations and activities beyond the requirements of the degree program.

Concern over the ROI of an undergraduate degree is as true for the OAP alumni in the current study as Gallup (2017; 2018a; 2018b) has found in national studies. Many survey respondents in the current study expressed frustration with the cost of their undergraduate degree. It is possible this burden doesn't belong to OAPs alone to solve as some participants believed it is up to the outdoor industry to increase its compensations standards.

Limitations

One notable limitation to this study lies in the survey distribution method; the individual program coordinators distributed the survey in hopes of increasing the quantity of responses yet this method may have led to response bias as alumni with affection (or intense disdain) for their school or program coordinator may be more likely to go through the effort of filling out the survey. Additionally, many of the earliest OAP graduates might not have had email addresses or may have switched email addresses after they graduated, which has likely led to limitations in distributing the survey. Finally, a question that may be troubling is the findings of pertains to "Do you consider your current job to be in the outdoor field?" The phrasing of this question may have confused respondents who interpreted "field" as in the physical place where some work rather than as a synonym for "industry."

Recommendations for Future Research

This study sought responses from alumni who graduated from the OAPs at three private, liberal arts institutions in the southeast with each school's undergraduate student body comprised of no more than 1,000 students. The small size of these institutions was reported as a benefit

from the respondents in this study because alumni perceived they were recipients of bountiful attention and personalized opportunities from their faculty. However, per Bell et al. (2024) only 33% of OAPS are housed at institutions with fewer than 2,999 students. Therefore, there is a need to explore perceptions belonging to OAP alumni from institutions that vary geographically as well as at larger schools. Additionally, only 32% of OAPs can be found at private institutions (Bell et al., 2024). Again, a public school's alumni might offer different perspectives than the alumni at these three, private liberal arts institutions.

While outside the scope of this study, it could be valuable for other higher education programs to apply an SLE theoretical framework to explore the impact of their programs on graduates' careers. Of particular interest might be programs that are inherently experiential and meet several of the Big Six criteria by nature of their curriculum (Gallup-Purdue, 2014). For example, arts programs such as Theatre often involve significant time with faculty mentors working on multiple semester-long projects.

Finally, a longer-term perspective on OAPs is missing given the lack of email addresses for Montreat alumni who graduated before 1993. A study surveying alumni who graduated from an OAP before 1993 might offer additional perspectives.

Recommendations for OAP Faculty and Administrators

Based on this study and its results, higher education administrators and OAP faculty should consider the following recommendations in order to increase the relevance of their OAP curriculum:

- Integrate more opportunities for certifications into course curriculum;
- Create more opportunities for students to explore business courses. This could look like encouraging students to double-major or minor in business, reminding students they have

the option to pursue an MBA post-grad, offering business courses as electives, or offering a degree that integrates OAP curriculum and Business curriculum;

- Require or strongly encourage internships as a part of OAP curriculum;
- Develop strong relationships with businesses and organizations so students have fulfilling internship options; and
- Offer a course specifically for students to learn about career paths and gain a realistic understanding of the potential financial implications of a career in the outdoor industry.

This study contributes to existing literature by exploring the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. Respondents confirmed their OAP degree made an impact on life generally, as well as specifically on their career. The findings of this study add to our understanding of the specific value gained by participating in an OAP since virtually none of the previously existing literature examined OAPs through the lens of alumni retrospectively. College administrators can utilize this research as they consider the value of OAPs and as higher education continues to explore the significance of undergraduate degrees. Other researchers may replicate this study at different OAPs or in other undergraduate degree areas to assess the career-impact of graduation from specific programs.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to thank the outdoor academic program coordinators and other personnel at Brevard College, Montreat College, and Warren Wilson College for their assistance in this study, including Dr. Jenny Kafsky, Dr. Dottie Shuman, Dr. Ryan Zwart, and Dr. Jill Overholt.

REFERENCES

- American Association of Colleges and Universities. (2023, July 6). Trending topic: High-impact practices. https://www.aacu.org/trending-topics/high-impact
- Bell, B. J., Gerbers, K., Turner, J., Jostad, J., & Hobbs, W. (2024, January 12-13). Outdoor academic programs (OAPs) By the numbers [Poster presentation]. Coalition for Education in the Outdoors, Black Mountain, NC, United States of America.
- Bell, B. J., Seaman, J., & Trautvein, N. (2017). Outdoor education academic programs in the United States. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 9(2), 251– 253. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2017-v9-i2-8264
- Bruner, J. (1987). Life as narrative. Social Research, 54(1), 11–32.
- Canberg, A. S., & Daniels, M. J. (2004). The diffusion of outdoor adventure leadership degree programs in the United States. *World Leisure Journal*, 46(4), 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/04419057.2004.9674371
- Chawla, L. (1998). Research methods to investigate significant life experiences: Review and recommendations. *Environmental Education Research*, 4(4), 383–397. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350462980040403
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design. qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage.
- Daniel, B. (2003). The life significance of a spiritually oriented, Outward Bound-type wilderness expedition (Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Antioch University New England).

Daniel, B. (2007). The life significance of a spiritually oriented, Outward Bound-type wilderness expedition. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 29(3), 386–389. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590702900312

- Daniel, B., Bobilya, A. J., & Faircloth, B. W. (2022). The life significance of an Outward Bound expedition: A retrospective study up to 50 years later. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation*, *Education, and Leadership*, 14(4), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2022-11597
- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2014). Internet, phone, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: The tailored design method. Wiley.
- Eagan, K., Stolzenberg, E.B., Ranurez, J. J., Aragon, M.C., Suchard, M.R., & Rios-Aguilar, C. (2016). *The American freshman: Fifty-year trends*, 1966-2015. Retrieved from https://www.heri.ucla.edu/monographs/50YearTrendsMonograph2016.pdf
- Gallup. (2017). On second thought: U.S. adults reflect on their education decisions. https://news.gallup.com/file/reports/208535/Gallup-

Strada%20Education%20Network%20June%202017%20Inaugural%20Report.pdf

Gallup-Purdue. (2014). *Great jobs: The 2014 Gallup-Purdue index report*. https://www.gallup.com/file/services/176768/The_2014_Gallup-Purdue Index Report.pdf

Gallup. (2018a). From college to life: Relevance and the value of higher education, Part 1. https://news.gallup.com/file/reports/269075/Strada-

Gallup_Relevance_and_the_Value_of_Higher_Education_Part%201_April%202018.pdf

Gallup. (2018b). From college to life: Relevance and the value of higher education, Part 2. https://news.gallup.com/file/reports/269072/Matters%20of%20Relevance%20Report-Chapter2.pdf Gardner, L. (2023, May 17). The ROI riddle. The Chronicle of Higher Education.

- Guthrie, S. P., Cavins, B. J., & Gabriel, J. (2012). History of outdoor recreation in the United
 States: An outdoor administrator's perspective. In G. Harrison & M. Erpelding (Eds.),
 Outdoor program administration: Principles and practices (pp. 15–30). Human Kinetics.
- Hobbs, W., McMahan, K., & Stawski, J. (2018). The value of accreditation for outdoor leadership education programs. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 10(4), 288–293. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2018-v10-i4-8356
- Jostad, J., Turner, J., Gerbers., K., Bell, B.J., Hobbs, W. (2023, October 31- November 3). *What's in a name: Impact and implications of outdoor program titles* [Conference presentation]. Association for Outdoor Recreation and Education, Baltimore, MD, United States of America.
- National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. (2023). Current term enrollment estimates, Spring 2023 (pp. 1–20). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED628811.pdf
- Maningas, M., & Simpson, S. (2003). Preparing to be an entry-level outdoor leader: Hiring preferences of accredited organizations of the Association for Experiential Education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 25(3), 354–354.

https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590302500319

- Neisser, U. (1988). Commentary on "Vivid memories and the reminiscence phenomenon: The role of a self-narrative." *Human Development*, *31*, 271–273.
- Outdoor Recreation Roundtable. (2023, November 17). National recreation economic data. Retrieved January 23, 2024, from https://recreationroundtable.org/resources/national-recreation-data/.

Palmer, J. (1993) Development of concern for the environment and formative experiences of educators. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 24(3), 26-30.
https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.1993.9943500

Potter, T. G., Socha, T. L., & O'Connell, T. S. (2012). Outdoor adventure education (OAE) in higher education: Characteristics of successful university degree programmes. *Journal of Adventure Education & Outdoor Learning*, *12*(2), 99–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2011.591912

Prince, H. (2005). Graduate pathways: A longitudinal study of graduates in outdoor studies in the U.K. Journal of Adventure Education & Outdoor Learning, 5(1), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729670585200571

Privitera, G. J. (2020). Research methods for the behavioral sciences (3rd ed.). Sage.

- Seaman, J., Bell, B. J., & Trauntvein, N. (2017). Assessing the value of a college degree in outdoor education or recreation: Institutional comparisons using the college scorecard and surveys of faculty and employers. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 9(1), 26–41. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2017-v9-i1-7474
- Sugerman, D. (1999). Outdoor leadership education: The past, present and future. ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED427926.pdf

Taff, D., Dvorak, R. G., Dawson, C. P., McCool, S. F., & Appel, P. A. (2016). Wilderness in higher education: Considerations for educating professionals for the next 50 years. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 8(1). 3-9. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2016-v8-i1-7280 Tanner, T. (1980). Significant life experiences: A new research area in environmental education. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 11(4), 20-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.1980.9941386

Turner, J., Jostad, J., Bell, B. J., Gerbers, K., Hobbs, W., Andre, E., & Collins, K. (2022).
Overview of the current landscape of outdoor programs in higher education. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 14(4), 86–100.
https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2022-11595

Wigglesworth, J., & Heintzman, P. (2020). A qualitative study of the perceived significant life impacts of a University Summer Outdoor Education course. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 21(4), 385–397.
https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2020.1854097

REFERENCES

American Association of Colleges and Universities. (2023, July 6). Trending topic: High-impact practices. https://www.aacu.org/trending-topics/high-impact

Altan, S., & Lane, J. F. (2018). Teachers' narratives: A source for exploring the influences of teachers' significant life experiences on their dispositions and teaching practices. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 74, 238–248.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.05.012

- Bell, B. J., Gerbers, K., Turner, J., Jostad, J., & Hobbs, W. (2024, January 12-13). Outdoor
 Academic Programs (OAPs) By the Numbers [Poster presentation]. Coalition for
 Education in the Outdoors, Black Mountain, NC, United States of America.
- Bell, B. J., Seaman, J., & Trautvein, N. (2017). Outdoor education academic programs in the United States. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 9(2), 251– 253. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2017-v9-i2-8264
- Berman, D., & Davis-Berman, J. (2009). Dimensions underlying an outdoor leadership curriculum. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 1(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.7768/1948-5123.1007
- Bruner, J. (1987). Life as narrative. Social Research, 54(1), 11–32.
- Canberg, A. S., & Daniels, M. J. (2004). The diffusion of outdoor adventure leadership degree programs in the United States. *World Leisure Journal*, 46(4), 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/04419057.2004.9674371
- Chawla, L. (1998). Research methods to investigate significant life experiences: Review and recommendations. *Environmental Education Research*, 4(4), 383–397. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350462980040403

- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design. qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage.
- Daniel, B. (2003). The life significance of a spiritually oriented, Outward Bound-type wilderness expedition (Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Antioch University New England).
- Daniel, B. (2007). The life significance of a spiritually oriented, Outward Bound-type wilderness expedition. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 29(3), 386–389. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590702900312
- Daniel, B., Bobilya, A. J., & Faircloth, B. W. (2022). The life significance of an Outward Bound expedition: A retrospective study up to 50 years later. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation*, *Education, and Leadership*, 14(4), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2022-11597
- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2014). *Internet, phone, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: The tailored design method*. Wiley.
- Eagan, K., Stolzenberg, E.B., Ranurez, J. J., Aragon, M.C., Suchard, M.R., & Rios-Aguilar, C. (2016). *The American freshman: Fifty-year trends, 1966-2015*. Retrieved from https://www.heri.ucla.edu/monographs/50YearTrendsMonograph2016.pdf
- Gallup. (2017). On second thought: U.S. adults reflect on their education decisions. https://news.gallup.com/file/reports/208535/Gallup-Strada%20Education%20Network%20June%202017%20Inaugural%20Report.pdf

Gallup-Purdue. (2014). *Great jobs: The 2014 Gallup-Purdue index report*. https://www.gallup.com/file/services/176768/The_2014_Gallup-Purdue Index Report.pdf Gallup. (2018a). From college to life: Relevance and the value of higher education, Part 1. https://news.gallup.com/file/reports/269075/Strada-

Gallup_Relevance_and_the_Value_of_Higher_Education_Part%201_April%202018.pdf

- Gallup. (2018b). From college to life: Relevance and the value of higher education, Part 2. https://news.gallup.com/file/reports/269072/Matters%20of%20Relevance%20Report-Chapter2.pdf
- Gardner, L. (2023, May 17). The ROI riddle. The Chronicle of Higher Education.
- Garvey, D., & Gass, M. A. (1999). Hiring preference trends in the outdoor adventure programming field. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 22(1), 44–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382599902200108
- Green, G. T., Kleiber, D. A., & Tarrant, M. A. (2000). The effect of an adventure-based recreation program on the development of resiliency in low income minority youth. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 18(3), 76–97.
- Guthrie, S. P., Cavins, B. J., & Gabriel, J. (2012). History of outdoor recreation in the United
 States: An outdoor administrator's perspective. In G. Harrison & M. Erpelding (Eds.),
 Outdoor program administration: Principles and practices (pp. 15–30). Human Kinetics.
- Hattie, J., Marsh, H. W., Neill, J. T., & Richards, G. E. (1997). Adventure education and
 Outward Bound: Out-of-class experiences that make a lasting difference. *Review of Educational Research*, 67(1), 43–87. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543067001043
- Hobbs, W., McMahan, K., & Stawski, J. (2018). The value of accreditation for Outdoor Leadership Education Programs. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 10(4), 288–293. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2018-v10-i4-8356

- Howell, R. A., & Allen, S. (2019). Significant life experiences, motivations and values of climate change educators. *Environmental Education Research*, 25(6), 813–831. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2016.1158242
- Jostad, J. (2023, March 17). College Degree Needed in Our Industry?. Retrieved November 6, 2023 from the listserv: talsnet@listserv.uga.edu
- Jostad, J., Turner, J., Gerbers., K., Bell, B.J., Hobbs, W. (2023, October 31- November 3). *What's in a name: Impact and implications of outdoor program titles* [Conference presentation]. Association for Outdoor Recreation and Education, Baltimore, MD, United States of America.
- Knox, L. (2023, May 24). Leveling off at the bottom. Inside Higher Ed.
- National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. (2023). Current term enrollment estimates, Spring 2023 (pp. 1–20). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED628811.pdf
- Maningas, M., & Simpson, S. (2003). Preparing to be an entry-level outdoor leader: Hiring preferences of accredited organizations of the Association for Experiential Education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 25(3), 354–354.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590302500319
- Marcy, M.B. (2023, April 27). The 7 trends facing small colleges. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- Martin, B., Breunig, M., Wagstaff, M., & Goldenberg, M. (2017). *Outdoor leadership: Theory and practice*. Human Kinetics.
- McClure, K. (2019). Examining the "amenities arms race" in higher education: Shifting from Rhetoric to research. *College Student Affairs Journal*, 37(2), 129–143. https://doi.org/10.1353/csj.2019.0010

- McMurtrie, B. (2023, May 17). Repairing gen ed: Colleges struggle to help students answer the question, "why am I taking this class?" *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- Medina, J. (2001). Types of positions, job responsibilities, and training backgrounds of outdoor/adventure leaders. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 24(3), 150–159.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590102400305
- Neisser, U. (1988). Commentary on "Vivid memories and the reminiscence phenomenon: The role of a self-narrative." *Human Development*, *31*, 271–273.
- Morling, B. (2018). *Research methods in psychology: Evaluating a world of information* (3rd ed.). W.W. Norton & Company.
- Orson, C. N., McGovern, G., & Larson, R. W. (2020). How challenges and peers contribute to social-emotional learning in outdoor adventure education programs. *Journal of Adolescence*, 81(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2020.02.014
- Outdoor Recreation Roundtable. (2023, November 17). National Recreation Economic Data. Retrieved January 23, 2024, from https://recreationroundtable.org/resources/national-recreation-data/.
- Palmer, J. (1993) Development of concern for the environment and formative experiences of educators. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 24(3), 26-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.1993.9943500

Pelchat, C., & Karp, G. G. (2012). A historical review of outdoor leadership curricular development and the future with action research. *SCHOLE: A Journal of Leisure Studies and Recreation Education*, 27(2), 1–13.
https://doi.org/10.1080/1937156x.2012.11949685

- Potter, T. G., Socha, T. L., & O'Connell, T. S. (2012). Outdoor Adventure Education (OAE) in Higher Education: Characteristics of Successful University Degree Programmes. *Journal* of Adventure Education & Outdoor Learning, 12(2), 99–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2011.591912
- Priest, S., & Gass, M. A. (1997). *Effective leadership in adventure programming*. Human Kinetics.
- Prince, H. (2005). Graduate pathways: A longitudinal study of graduates in outdoor studies in the U.K. Journal of Adventure Education & Outdoor Learning, 5(1), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729670585200571
- Prince, H. E. (2021). The lasting impacts of outdoor adventure residential experiences on young people. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 21(3), 261–276. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2020.1784764
- Privitera, G. J. (2020). *Research methods for the behavioral sciences* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publishing, Inc.
- Raiola, E. & Sugerman, D. (1999). Outdoor leadership curricula in J. Miles & S. Priest (Eds.), Adventure Programming (pp. 241-245). State College, PA: Venture.
- Ramírez, M. J., & Allison, P. (2023). The perceived long-term influence of youth wilderness expeditions in participants' lives. *Journal of Experiential Education*, *46*(1), 99-114.
- Ross, C. M., Beggs, B. A., & Young, S. J. (2011). *Mastering the job search process in recreation and Leisure Services* (2nd ed.). Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Scholz,, R. W., Steiner, R., & Hansmann, R. (2003). Role of internship in Higher Education in environmental sciences. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 41(1), 24–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.10123

Saldaña, J. M. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (2nd ed.). SAGE.

- Seaman, J., Bell, B. J., & Trauntvein, N. (2017). Assessing the value of a college degree in outdoor education or recreation: Institutional comparisons using the college scorecard and surveys of faculty and employers. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 9(1), 26–41. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2017-v9-i1-7474
- Sibthorp, J. (2003). An empirical look at Walsh and Golins' adventure education process model:
 Relationships between antecedent factors, perceptions of characteristics of an adventure education experience, and changes in self-efficacy. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 35(1), 80–106. https://doi.org/10.18666/jlr-2003-v35-i1-611
- Sibthorp, J., Paisley, K., & Gookin, J. (2007). Exploring participant development through adventure-based programming: A model from the National Outdoor Leadership School. *Leisure Sciences*, 29(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400600851346
- Stott, T., Zaitseva, E., & Cui, V. (2012). Stepping back to move forward? exploring outdoor education students' fresher and graduate identities and their impact on employment destinations. *Studies in Higher Education*, 39(5), 711–733. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2012.743116
- Sugerman, D. (1999). Outdoor leadership education: The past, present and future. ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED427926.pdf

Taff, D., Dvorak, R. G., Dawson, C. P., McCool, S. F., & Appel, P. A. (2016). Wilderness in higher education: Considerations for educating professionals for the next 50 years. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 8(1). 3-9. https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2016-v8-i1-7280 Tanner, T. (1980). Significant life experiences: A new research area in environmental education. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 11(4), 20-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.1980.9941386

Tesch, R. (1990). Qualitative research: Analysis types and software tools. The Falmer Press.

Turner, J., Jostad, J., Bell, B. J., Gerbers, K., Hobbs, W., Andre, E., & Collins, K. (2022).
Overview of the current landscape of outdoor programs in higher education. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, *14*(4), 86–100.
https://doi.org/10.18666/jorel-2022-11595

- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2022, September 8). Recreation workers: Occupational outlook handbook. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Retrieved April 1, 2023, from https://www.bls.gov/ooh/personal-care-and-service/recreation-workers.htm#tab-4
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (n.d.) *Detail for CIP code 31.0601*. https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/cipcode/cipdetail.aspx?y=55&cip=31.0601

Wigglesworth, J., & Heintzman, P. (2020). A qualitative study of the perceived significant life impacts of a University Summer Outdoor Education course. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 21(4), 385–397.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2020.1854097

- Wilderness Leadership & Experiential Education: WLEE. Brevard College. (n.d.). Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://brevard.edu/wilderness-leadership-experiential-education/.
- Zook, M. (2023, September 15). Tuition resets continue amid public skepticism of college's value. *Inside Higher Ed.*

Appendix A: Program Coordinator Communications Guide

Program Coordinator Communication Guide

Table of Contents

First Email Contact	1
To be sent on: 10/16/2023 (Or, the day Institutional Review Board approval is received, post-thesis proposal)	.1
Second Email Contact	1
To be sent on: 10/24/23	. 1
Third Email Contact	2
To be sent on: 11/1/2023	.2
Fourth Email Contact	3
To be sent on: 11/8/2023	.3
Fifth Email Contact	3
To be sent on: 11/20/2023	.3
First Social Media Post	4
To be posted on: 10/19/2023	.4
Second Social Media Post	5
To be posted on: 11/13/2023	.5
Guidance for Talking to Alumni In-Person	5

Program coordinators, please note that text written in orange in the scripts is meant to be edited to be specific to your outdoor academic program.

First Email Contact

To be sent on: 10/16/2023 (Or, the day Institutional Review Board approval is received, post-thesis proposal)

Dear [Program Name] Alumni:

I am the Program Coordinator of [College Name]'s [Program Name] program. As an alumnus of this program, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. I am sharing this study on behalf of Abigail Fuesler, a graduate student at Western Carolina university, and your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

Your involvement in this research involves answering survey questions about your experiences in [Program Name] and your career. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

When you click on the link to the survey below, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it.

Follow this <u>link to the survey</u> or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: <u>https://wcu.azl.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW</u>

If you have any questions or concerns about the survey or the study in general, reach out to Abigail Fuesler, at <u>agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu</u> or 805-46-43736.

Sincerely,

[Program Coordinator email signature]

Second Email Contact

To be sent on: 10/24/23 Dear [Major Name] Alumni:

Last week, you received an email stating that as an alumnus of [College Name]'s [Program Name] program, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. It is important that you complete the survey because your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

Your involvement in this research involves answering survey questions about your experiences in [Program Name] and your career. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

When you click on the link to the survey below, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it.

Follow this <u>link to the survey</u> or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: <u>https://wcu.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW</u>

If you have any questions or concerns about the survey or the study in general, reach out to Abigail Fuesler, at <u>agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu</u> or 805-46-43736.

Sincerely,

[Program Coordinator email signature]

Third Email Contact

To be sent on: 11/1/2023 Dear [Major Name] Alumni:

Two weeks ago, you received an email stating that as an alumnus of [College Name]'s [Program Name] program, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. It is important that you complete the survey because your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

Your involvement in this research involves answering survey questions about your experiences in [Program Name] and your career. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

When you click on the link to the survey below, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it.

Follow this <u>link to the survey</u> or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: <u>https://wcu.azl.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW</u>

If you have any questions or concerns about the survey or the study in general, reach out to Abigail Fuesler, at <u>agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu</u> or 805-46-43736.

Sincerely,

[Program Coordinator email signature]

Fourth Email Contact

To be sent on: 11/8/2023 Dear [Major Name] Alumni:

As an alumnus of [College Name]'s [Program Name] program, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. I am sharing this study on behalf of Abigail Fuesler, a graduate student at Western Carolina university, and your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

Your involvement in this research involves answering survey questions about your experiences in [Program Name] and your career. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

When you click on the link to the survey below, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it.

Follow this link to the survey or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: https://wcu.azl.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW_

If you have any questions or concerns about the survey or the study in general, reach out to Abigail Fuesler, at <u>agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu</u> or 805-46-43736.

Sincerely,

[Program Coordinator email signature]

Fifth Email Contact

To be sent on: 11/20/2023

Dear [Major Name] Alumni:

As an alumnus of [College Name]'s [Program Name] program, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. I am sharing this study on behalf of Abigail Fuesler, a graduate student at Western Carolina university, and your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

Your involvement in this research involves answering survey questions about your experiences in [Program Name] and your career. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for

you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

When you click on the link to the survey below, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it.

Follow this <u>link to the survey</u> or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: <u>https://wcu.azl.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW</u> If you have any questions or concerns about the survey or the study in general, reach out to Abigail Fuesler, at <u>agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu</u> or 805-46-43736.

Sincerely,

[Program Coordinator email signature]

First Social Media Post

To be posted on: 10/19/2023

Bull horn emoji Calling [Program Name] alumni! If you from [Program Abbreviation] graduated with a bachelor's degree in 2017 or earlier, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. We are sharing this study on behalf of Abigail Fuesler, a graduate student at Western Carolina university, and your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

Your involvement in this research involves answering survey questions about your experiences in [Program Name] and your career. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

When you click on the link to the survey, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it.

** For Instagram posts only, post to your grid with a photo of alumni from your program. Once the post is shared, then, share it to your "story," tap the photo so that the start of the caption of the post shows up with a bit of text at the bottom, and edit the story so that you can add a direct link to the survey

*** For Facebook, copy and paste the link into the post. For Instagram, paste the link into the "website" spot in the account's bio, and insert the following text into the end of the post: "Follow the link in the bio to participate."

https://wcu.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW

Second Social Media Post

To be posted on: 11/13/2023

Hey [Program Name] alumni, this is a reminder that if you [Program Abbreviation] graduated with a bachelor's degree in 2017 or earlier, you are invited to participate in a research study on the significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program and if those experiences impacted graduates' careers. Your response will contribute to our program's understanding of the contributions it may make to alumni's careers.

When you click on the link to the survey, you will be asked to read the study consent form and choose to complete the survey or to opt out of completing it. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started.

** For Instagram posts only, post to your grid with a photo of alumni from your program. Once the post is shared, then, share it to your "story," tap the photo so that the start of the caption of the post shows up with a bit of text at the bottom, and edit the story so that you can add a direct link to the survey

*** For Facebook, copy and paste the link into the post. For Instagram, paste the link into the "website" spot in the account's bio, and insert the following text into the end of the post: "Follow the link in the bio to participate."

https://wcu.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ebNokUNW85WB4CW

Guidance for Talking to Alumni In-Person

It is appropriate to discuss the survey with members of the population that you meet in person. Please reference the information that is shared via email and social media, to make sure that the same information is being conveyed to the alumni. If alumni have any questions continue to direct them to Abigail Fuesler, at <u>agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu</u> or 805-464-3736.

Appendix B: Informed Consent

Western Carolina University Consent Form to Participate in a Research Study

Below is the informed assent information which will be presented to the student through a WCU/Qualtrics survey. By clicking a button labeled [I consent, begin survey.] at the end of the form, the student will indicate their consent.

Project Title: The Value of Undergraduate Outdoor Academic Programs: An Exploration of Alumni Experiences

This study is being conducted by: Abigail Fuesler Graduate Candidate Experiential and Outdoor Education Western Carolina University

Andrew J. Bobilya Ph. D. Professor and Program Director of Experiential and Outdoor Education Western Carolina University

Description and Purpose of the Research: This study seeks responses from alumni who graduated from the four-year outdoor-related academic programs (e.g. outdoor education, outdoor recreation, outdoor leadership, wilderness leadership and experiential education) at Brevard College, Montreat College, and Warren Wilson College before 2017 in an effort to study the potential impact of graduating from an undergraduate outdoor-related program on the professional lives of alumni. We hope to learn how alumni of undergraduate outdoor-related programs perceive their degrees to have impacted their career, and which components of alumni's undergraduate degrees they perceive to be most influential on their careers.

What you will be asked to do: After completing this consent form, you will begin the survey portion of this study. In it, you will be asked several questions, including multiple-choice, short-response, and long-response questions. Some questions will relate specifically to the value your undergraduate outdoor-related academic program might hold for you, and others will seek demographic information. This survey is expected to take between 25-45 minutes for you to complete.

Risks and Discomforts: There are no anticipated risks from participating in this research.

Benefits: This study may help us better understand the value that undergraduate outdoor programs hold for their students and graduates, as well as which components of these programs may be the most influential on their alumni. This study may help undergraduate outdoor program

faculty and college administrations better understand their own outdoor program. At the end of your participation in this study, you will have the opportunity to request a summary of its results.

Privacy/Confidentiality/Data Security: The data collected in this study are anonymous. This means that the research team cannot match you to your data. The data collected in this research study will be kept confidential. Participation in this research may involve some loss of privacy. We will do our best to make sure that the information about you is kept confidential, but we cannot guarantee total confidentiality. Your personal information may be viewed by individuals involved in the research and may be seen by people, including those collaborating and regulating the study. We will share only the minimum necessary information to conduct the research. Your personal information and data resulting from this study may be presented at scientific meetings or published in a scientific journal, your name or other personal information will not be revealed.

We will collect your information through a Qualtrics online survey. This information will be stored in an encrypted cloud-based system.

The research team will work to protect your data to the extent permitted by technology. It is possible, although unlikely, that an unauthorized individual could gain access to your responses because you are responding online. This risk is similar to your everyday use of the internet.

The researchers will give you a pseudonym and will generalize your quote to remove any information that could be personally identifying.

Voluntary Participation: Participation is voluntary, and you have the right to withdraw your consent or discontinue participation at any time without penalty. If you choose not to participate or decide to withdraw, there will be no impact on you, and your decision does not affect your relationship with the institution you received your outdoor-related undergraduate degree.

Compensation for Participation: There will be no compensation for participation in this study.

Contact Information: For questions about this study, please contact Abigail Fuesler at agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu. You may also contact Dr. Andrew Bobilya, the principal investigator and faculty advisor for this project, at ajbobilya@wcu.edu

If you have questions or concerns about your treatment as a participant in this study, you may contact the Western Carolina University Institutional Review Board through the Office of Research Administration by calling 828-227-7212 or emailing irb@wcu.edu. All reports or correspondence will be kept confidential to the extent possible.

Please download a copy of this Informed Consent document (linked), so that you may refer to it in the future.

Appendix C: Institutional Review Board Determination



DATE: 04-Oct-2023 TO: Andrew Bobilya FROM: IRB 2023-10-02-01, The Life Significance of Undergraduate Outdoor Academic Programs: PROJECT TITLE: **Alumni Perspectives** SUBMISSION IRB Request for Initial Review of Research TYPE: ACTION: DETERMINATION OF EXEMPT STATUS APPROVAL 04-Oct-2023 DATE: REVIEW **Exemption Category 2**

Thank you for your submission of IRB Request for Initial Review of Research materials for this project. The IRB has determined this project is EXEMPT FROM IRB REVIEW according to federal regulations. You may begin your research.

If you wish to make changes to your protocol, including recruitment procedures, sampling, consent, interventions, data collection methods, and investigators, please use the modification request form located in InfoEd.

We will retain a copy of this correspondence within our records.

CATEGORY:

If you have any questions, please contact the Institutional Review Board at 828-227-7212 or irb@wcu.edu. Please include your protocol nubmer and project title in all correspondence with this committee.

Appendix D: Letter of Support – Brevard College

BREVARD COLLEGE

September 6, 2023

Abigail Fuesler Graduate Student in Experiential and Outdoor Education Western Carolina University Cullowhee, NC 28723

Dear Abigail,

You are given permission to undertake a research study exploring the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program at it relates to alumni's careers. We understand that you will be collecting data from Brevard College alumni who graduated from the Wilderness Leadership and Experiential Education program at least five years ago. We also understand that this study is qualitative and quantitative in nature, collecting data via an online survey, and that Brevard College, Warren Wilson College, Montreat College will be participating in this study concurrently.

It is understood that this will be a collaborative project conducted in coordination with myself, the Brevard College Wilderness Leadership and Experiential Education major, Registrar's Office and Alumni Office and Western Carolina University. The research may commence in October of 2023 and may continue through March of 2024 with necessary pre-planning from September to October of 2023. During the pre-planning, adjustments may be made to the timeline. Brevard College WLEE will communicate with their alumni through various channels (email, institutional social media, personal social media, etc.) and assist in recruitment of participants so that the purpose of this study may be achieved. Brevard College will provide ongoing guidance and support to aid the successful completion of this study.

The research process, including the data collection, is designed to guard the confidentiality of the participants involved in the study. The data is only to be used for purposes consistent with the study's requirements. It is understood that all institutions involved will be provided with a final copy of the thesis.

We look forward to undertaking this study with you, as we believe it will further the development of our program, promote future outdoor academic program design, and contribute to the literature informing the professional and academic development of outdoor leaders.

Sincerely.

Jennifer Kafsky, Ph.D. Coordinator & Professor of Wilderness Leadership and Experiential Education Director of Teaching and Learning 1 Brevard College Drive Brevard, NC 28712 kafskyjl@breavrd.edu c. 828-577-5237

Appendix E: Letter of Support – Montreat College



August 29, 2023

Abigail Fuesler Graduate Student in Experiential and Outdoor Education Western Carolina University Cullowhee, NC 28723

Dear Abigail,

You are given permission to undertake a research study exploring the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program at it relates to alumni's careers. We understand that you will be collecting data from Montreat College alumni who graduated from the Outdoor Recreation or Outdoor Education program at least five years ago. We also understand that this study is qualitative and quantitative in nature, collecting data via an online survey, and that Montreat College will be participating in this study concurrently.

It is understood that this will be a collaborative project conducted in coordination with myself, Montreat College, and Western Carolina University. The research may commence in October of 2023 and may continue through March of 2024 with necessary pre-planning from September to October of 2023. During the pre-planning, adjustments may be made to the timeline. Montreat College will communicate with their alumni through various channels (email, institutional social media, personal social media, etc.) and assist in recruitment of participants so that the purpose of this study may be achieved. Montreat College will provide ongoing guidance and support to aid the successful completion of this study.

The research process, including the data collection, is designed to guard the confidentiality of the participants involved in the study. The data is only to be used for purposes consistent with the study's requirements. It is understood that all institutions involved will be provided with a final copy of the thesis.

We look forward to undertaking this study with you, as we believe it will further the development of our program, promote future outdoor academic program design, and contribute to the literature informing the professional and academic development of outdoor leaders.

Sincerely,

w

Ryan Zwart, Ph.D. Assistant Professor – Studies in Education and Outdoor Recreation Faculty of Science and Human Services ryan.zwart@montreat.edu

P.O. Box 1267 | Montreat, NC 28757 | 828-669-8012

Appendix F: Letter of Support – Warren Wilson College



August 28, 2023

Abigail Fuesler Graduate Student in Experiential and Outdoor Education Western Carolina University Cullowhee, NC 28723

Dear Abigail,

You are given permission to undertake a research study exploring the perceived life significance of experiences in an undergraduate outdoor academic program as it relates to alumni's careers. We understand that you will be collecting data from Warren Wilson College alumni who graduated from the Outdoor Leadership program at least five years ago. We also understand that this study is qualitative and quantitative in nature, collecting data via an online survey, and that Brevard College, Warren Wilson College, Montreat College will be participating in this study concurrently.

It is understood that this will be a collaborative project conducted in coordination with myself, the Outdoor Leadership major, the Alumni Relations Manager, and Western Carolina University. The research may commence in October of 2023 and may continue through March of 2024 with necessary pre-planning from September to October of 2023. During the pre-planning, adjustments may be made to the timeline. Warren Wilson College will communicate with their alumni through various channels (email, institutional social media, personal social media, etc) and assist in recruitment of participants so that the purpose of this study may be achieved. Warren Wilson College will provide ongoing guidance and support to aid the successful completion of this study.

The research process, including the data collection, is designed to guard the confidentiality of the participants involved in the study. The data is only to be used for purposes consistent with the study's requirements. It is understood that all institutions involved will be provided with a final copy of the thesis.

We look forward to undertaking this study with you, as we believe it will further the development of our program, promote future outdoor academic program design, and contribute to the literature informing the professional and academic development of outdoor leaders.

Sincerely,

Jill Overholt, Ph.D. Chair of Outdoor Leadership and Adventure Programs Mailbox #6268 828-771-3820 joverholt@warren-wilson.edu

> In the Swannanoa Valley of the Blue Ridge Mountains PO Box 9000 Asheville North Carolina 28815-9000 828-771-3007

Appendix G: OAP SLE Survey

The Value of Undergraduate Outdoor Academic Programs: An Exploration of Alumni Experiences

Start of Block: Consent

Informed Consent

Western Carolina University

Consent Form to Participate in a Research Study

Project Title: The Value of Undergraduate Outdoor Academic Programs: An Exploration of

Alumni Experiences

This study is being conducted by:

Abigail Fuesler

Graduate Candidate

Experiential and Outdoor Education

Western Carolina University

Andrew J. Bobilya, Ph. D.

Professor and Program Director of Experiential and Outdoor Education

Western Carolina University

Description and Purpose of the Research: This study seeks responses from alumni who

graduated from the four-year outdoor-related academic programs (e.g. outdoor education, outdoor recreation, outdoor leadership, wilderness leadership and experiential education) at Brevard College, Montreat College, and Warren Wilson College before 2017 in an effort to study the potential impact of graduating from an undergraduate outdoor-related program on the professional lives of alumni. We hope to learn how alumni of undergraduate outdoor-related programs perceive their degrees to have impacted their careers and which components of alumni's undergraduate degrees they perceive to be most influential on their careers.

What you will be asked to do: After completing this consent form, you will begin the survey portion of this study. You will be asked several questions, including multiple-choice, short-response, and long-response. Some questions will relate specifically to the value your undergraduate outdoor-related academic program might hold for you, and others will seek demographic information. This survey is expected to take between 20-35 minutes for you to complete. The survey will save your information, so if you need to take a break, you can return to the survey if you return to it from the same decide you started

Risks and Discomforts: There are no anticipated risks from participating in this research.

Benefits: This study may help us better understand the value that undergraduate outdoor programs hold for their students and graduates, as well as which components of these programs may be the most influential on their alumni. This study may help undergraduate outdoor program faculty and college administrations better understand their own outdoor program. At the end of your participation in this study, you will have the opportunity to request a summary of its results. **Privacy/Data Security:** The data collected in this study are anonymous. This means that the research team cannot match you to your data. We will collect your response through a Qualtrics online survey, and responses will be stored in an encrypted cloud-based system.

The research team will work to protect your data to the extent permitted by technology. It is possible, although unlikely, that an unauthorized individual could gain access to responses because you are responding online. This risk is similar to your everyday use of the internet. At no point in time will the research team have access to your IP address.

The researchers will give you a pseudonym and will generalize your quote to remove any information that could be personally identifying.

Voluntary Participation: Participation is voluntary, and you have the right to withdraw your consent or discontinue participation at any time without penalty. If you choose not to participate or decide to withdraw, there will be no impact on you, and your decision does not affect your relationship with the institution you received your outdoor-related undergraduate degree.

Compensation for Participation: There will be no compensation for participation in this study.

Contact Information: For questions about this study, please contact Abigail Fuesler at agfuesler1@catamount.wcu.edu. You may also contact Dr. Andrew Bobilya, the principal investigator and faculty advisor for this project, at ajbobilya@wcu.edu

If you have questions or concerns about your treatment as a participant in this study, you may contact the Western Carolina University Institutional Review Board through the Office of Research Administration by calling 828-227-7212 or emailing irb@wcu.edu. All reports or correspondence will be kept confidential to the extent possible.

Please download a copy of this <u>Informed Consent</u> information, so that you may refer to it in the future.

I consent and fit the requirements to participate, begin the survey. (1)

I do not consent, do not fit the requirements, and/or I do not wish to participate. (2)

Skip To: End of Survey If Western Carolina University Consent Form to Participate in a Research Study Project Title: The... = I do not consent, do not fit the requirements, and/or I do not wish to participate.

Page

End of Block: Consent

Start of Block: Consent

College Selection What college did you attend?

Brevard College (1)

Montreat College (2)

Warren Wilson College (3)

Degree status Did you graduate with a Bachelor's degree majoring in an outdoor-related program, such as outdoor education, outdoor recreation, outdoor leadership, or wilderness leadership and experiential education?

Yes (1)

No (2)

Skip To: End of Survey If Did you graduate with a Bachelor's degree majoring in an outdoor-related program, such as outdoor... = No

Page

Year of Grad What year did you graduate with your Bachelor's degree from an outdoorrelated degree program?

▼ 1986 (1) ... 2022 (30)

Skip To: End of Survey If What year did you graduate with your Bachelor's degree from an outdoor-related degree program? = 2022

Skip To: End of Survey If What year did you graduate with your Bachelor's degree from an outdoor-related degree program? = 2021

Skip To: End of Survey If What year did you graduate with your Bachelor's degree from an outdoor-related degree program? = 2020

Skip To: End of Survey If What year did you graduate with your Bachelor's degree from an outdoor-related degree program? = 2019

Skip To: End of Survey If What year did you graduate with your Bachelor's degree from an outdoor-related degree program? = 2018

End of Block: Consent

Start of Block: Part One

Takeaways What were your most important takeaways or learnings (if any) from your outdoor-related degree program?

Page

Explain Difference Please explain your answer to the previous question.

Difference Did your outdoor-related degree program make a difference in your life in any way?

Yes (1) Maybe (2) No (3)

How Difference If your outdoor-related degree program made a difference in your life, please provide one or more specific examples of how it did so.

Page

Components A typical outdoor-related degree program consists of various components (e.g., internships, outdoor education courses, field (out-of-traditional classroom) experiences, faculty mentorship, peer interactions, etc.).

From which outdoor-related degree program component(s) did you learn the most? Please briefly describe what you learned.

Page

Meaning Change Has your opinion of what your outdoor-related degree program meant to your career changed or remained the same in the years that followed the completion of your degree?

Remained the same (8)

Changed a little (9)

Changed a lot (10)

Unsure (11)

Why Meaning Change Please explain your answer to the previous question.

Page

Other Influences How influential was your outdoor-related degree program on your career compared to other life experiences?

Most influential (4)

Very influential (5)

Somewhat influential (6)

Minimally influential (7)

Least influential (8)

Page

Reminders of Mems Please select any and all reminders that you used to recall your experience (ex. journal, social media, photographs, textbooks, class notes, etc).

Journal (1) Social Media (2) Photographs (3) Textbooks (4) Class Notes (5) Other (6)______ None (8)

End of Block: Part One

Start of Block: Part Two

Explain Likert The following section focuses on the importance of the individual components of your outdoor-related degree program. Please evaluate how important the following components of your outdoor-related degree program were to you by selecting the circle that best describes your feelings.

Component Likert For each component that you did not experience in your outdoor-

related degree program please select Not Applicable.

Not Applicable = Did not experience it or Do not remember it

	Not	Slightly	Moderately	Very	Extremely	Not
	Important	Important	Important	Important	Important	Applicable
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Certifications						
(Wilderness						
First						
Responder,						
Leave No						
Trace Trainer,						
etc) (1)						
Conference(s)						
(2)						
"Discovery" or						
North						
Carolina						
Outward						
Bound School						
Course (3)						

Exposure to

New Outdoor

Activities (4)

Faculty

Mentorship

(5)

International

Travel with

Outdoor-

Related

Degree

Program (6)

Internship (7)

Intensive

Semester

Experience

("Immersion")

(8)

Job Fair(s) (9)

Networking

Opportunities

(10)

Outdoor-

Related

Degree

Program

Curriculum

(12)

Outing Club

(13)

Other Clubs

(14)

Practicum

(16)

Peer

Mentorship

(18)

Peer

Friendship

(19)

Program

Alumni (21)

Teaching Assistantship (22) Work Study Program (23)

Anything Missing Is there a component that was not listed here that you believe was Very Important or Extremely Important in relation to your learning?

No (1) Yes (2)

Skip To: Courses If Is there a component that was not listed here that you believe was Very Important or Extremely Im... = No

Page

Explain Missing You responded that there was a missing component that was Very Important or Extremely Important in relation to your learning.

What was the component that you believe was Very Important or Extremely Important in relation to your learning?

Page

Courses What are the names of the three most courses you took as a part of your outdoorrelated degree program that have had the greatest influence on your career, and why were they influential?

End of Block: Part Two

Start of Block: Part Three

Transferability Do you feel that the skills or knowledge you learned in your outdoorrelated degree program have been transferable to your career?

Yes (1)

Maybe (2)

No (3)

Explain Transfer Please explain your answer to the previous question.

Page

Employment Status Are you currently employed?

Yes, full-time. (1)

Yes, part-time. (2)

No. (3)

Page

Display This Question:

If Are you currently employed? != No.

Field, Broadly Do you consider your current job to be in the outdoor field?

Yes (9)

No (10)

Display This Question:

If Are you currently employed? != No.

And Do you consider your current job to be in the outdoor field? = No

Other field If you responded no to the previous question, what field do you consider your current job to be in?

Display This Question:

If Are you currently employed? != No.

Job title State your job title, and give a brief explanation of your duties.

Page

Recommend Would you recommend earning an undergraduate degree from an outdoorrelated program to someone interested in working in the outdoor field?

Yes (1) Maybe (2)

No (3)

Explain Recommend Please explain your answer to the previous question.

Page

Demographics The final set of questions seek to understand some of your demographic information.

Age of Enrollment How old were you when you enrolled in your undergraduate institution?

Age of Graduation How old were you when you graduated from your undergraduate institution?

Ethnicity What is your ethnicity? Select all that apply.

White/Caucasian (1)

American Indian (2)

African American (3)

Asian (4)

Hispanic/Latino (5)

Mixed Ethnicity (6)

Other (7)_____

Prefer not to say (8)

Gender What is your gender? Select all that apply.

Woman (1)

Man (2)

Non-binary (3)

Genderqueer or gender fluid (4)

Agender (5)

Transgender (6)

Prefer not to say (7)

Other (8)_____

Page

Income What is your average annual income?

\$0 - \$25,000 (1) \$25,001-\$35,000 (2) \$35,001-\$45,000 (3) \$45,001 - \$65,000 (4) \$65,001 - \$85,000 (5) \$85,000 + (6) Prefer not to say (7)

Location In which state do you currently reside?

Alabama (1)

Alaska (2)

Arizona (3)

Arkansas (4)

California (5)

Colorado (6)

Connecticut (7)

Delaware (8)

District of Columbia (9)

Florida (10)

Georgia (11)

Hawaii (12)

Idaho (13)

Illinois (14)

Indiana (15)

Iowa (16)

Kansas (17)

Kentucky (18)

Louisiana (19)

Maine (20)

Maryland (21)

Massachusetts (22)

Michigan (23)

Minnesota (24)

Mississippi (25)

Missouri (26)

Montana (27)

Nebraska (28)

Nevada (29)

New Hampshire (30)

New Jersey (31)

New Mexico (32)

New York (33)

North Carolina (34)

North Dakota (35)

Ohio (36)

Oklahoma (37)

Oregon (38)

Pennsylvania (39)

Puerto Rico (40)

Rhode Island (41)

South Carolina (42)

South Dakota (43)

Tennessee (44)

Texas (45)

Utah (46)

Vermont (47)

Virginia (48)

Washington (49)

West Virginia (50)

Wisconsin (51)

Wyoming (52)

I do not reside in the United States (53)

Prefer not to say (59)

Page

Display This Question:

If 50 States, D.C. and Puerto Rico = I do not reside in the United States

Q32 In what country do you currently reside?

Page

Other Degree Have you earned or are you in the process of earning any degrees in addition to your undergraduate degree?

No (1)

Yes (2)

Page

Display This Question:

If Have you earned or are you in the process of earning any degrees in addition to your undergraduat... = Yes

Specify Other Degree What degree did you decide to earn in addition to your undergraduate degree, and what was the field of study?

End of Block: Part Three

Start of Block: Block 6

Final Thoughts Is there anything else that you would like to share about your experience in an outdoor-related degree program as you reflect on its significance on your career? If so, please explain. End of Block: Block 6

Start of Block: reCAPTCHA

Q8 To submit the survey, confirm you are not a robot.

End of Block: reCAPTCHA